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Winter WoodlandWinter Woodland
Community Community 
Bonfire Bonfire 
CelebrationCelebration
Saturday, December 11Saturday, December 11thth

1 – 4 pm1 – 4 pm
Arcadia Wildlife Sanctuary
127 Combs Rd, Easthampton, MA

Join us at Arcadia Wildlife Sanctuary in 
Easthampton for a community bonfire 
celebration fun for the whole family! Open to 
everyone in the community – we hope to see 
you there!

Virtual  Virtual  
Annual Annual 
Meeting Meeting 
CelebrationCelebration
Thursday, December 16Thursday, December 16thth

6 – 7 pm6 – 7 pm

Calling All Co-op Owners! 
Please join us virtually 
for our Annual 
Meeting Celebration!
AGENDA
6:00-6:10 pm
Welcome and convene meeting with land 
acknowledgment

Review agenda, approve minutes from last years 
meeting and introduce Board Members and 
Candidates for the Board of Directors 

6:10-7:00 pm
Remarks from our Board President  
and General Manager 

Panel Discussion: Envisioning a Cooperative 
Economy

Adjourn meeting

Scan code or visit 
rivervalley.coop  

to register!

Join us for TWO upcoming events!
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In this Annual Report,  
we are informing River 
Valley Co-op owners about 
the results of our work 
over the last fiscal year, 
which ended June 30, 2021.

Our mission is to create a just 
marketplace that nourishes the 
community. Because our co-op has a 
triple bottom line, this report is more 
than an annual financial statement. 
It includes information on the three 
P’s vital to River Valley Co-op: People, 
Planet, and Prosperity. Thank you for 
your attention to your cooperative’s 
business!

On the Cover

Easthampton artist 
Luke Cavagnac created 
this River Valley Co-op 
inspired painting for us 
when the Easthampton 
co-op opened in 2021

Co-op Mural

This mural on the back 
of our Easthampton 
store (each letter is 
18' wide!) was painted 
by local artist Tom 
Pappalardo
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Since we began this journey, the 
community owners of River Valley Co-op 
have been working to build a better 

future together. More than 20 years ago, we started with 
a small group of folks who thought we should create a 
just marketplace to nourish the community by opening a 
cooperative community grocery store. It took ten years, but 
over 1,000 people bought an ownership share in the yet-to-
be-built store, and loaned $1M to our co-op with no store. 
That was enough to catalyze others, and in 2008 we opened 
the Northampton store with 2,000 co-op owners. Three years 
in and we knew we were on the right track – by 2011 our sales 
were exceeding our 10th year projections and we were on 
our way to being a much bigger store for the tight squeeze 
between the rock quarry and highway. We started thinking we 
might need another store!

In 2013, the staff, management, co-op owners, and the 
Board of our co-op, with one store – all crafted our Big Vision: 
we hoped to grow the co-op to 10,000 owners by 2018 with a 
second store and green technologies that would meet 30% 
of our energy needs, a co-op employing 250 people earning a 
livable wage. From that aspirational vision, we got to work to 
make it happen starting with a remodel and new equipment 
for the Northampton store. By 2016, the Board of Directors 
was deep in the research and education that we knew we’d 
need to be able to make the informed decision on behalf of 
the co-op owners to borrow funds to build our second store. 
Market studies, complex financing, local real estate options, 
lease vs. buy, financial analysis and scenario planning were 
all topics for research, trainings by experts, and much 
discussion. In 2018, we secured a location and launched 
Expedition Easthampton. In 2019, we completed a $5 million 
Co-op Owner Loan Campaign. In 2020, we sealed the deal on 
our second store financing and construction began. And then 
March arrived with the start of the pandemic. 

While the staff adapted to the ever-changing store 
safety requirements and preparing for a second store, the 
project management team adjusted to the ever-changing 
construction conditions. The Board continued in our 
governance role. We reviewed construction progress update 
reports and kept our eye on all the other important parts of 
governing a co-op grocery, the results of which you’ll read 
throughout this annual report. There are summaries of all 
the great work that staff has done this year to ensure that 

our triple bottom line of planet, people and prosperity is 
achieved in operations. At the Board level, we’ve taken some 
time to look more closely at how we do things, especially 
with an eye to diversity, equity and inclusion. This year, we 
revised a number of our board policies to reduce barriers 
to participation, to foster greater acceptance of difference, 
and to make sure that how we say we’ll do things aligns 
with our intention to be an anti-racist and anti-oppression 
organization. We also turned our attention to reviewing and 
updating the bylaws of the co-op. The bylaws are the policies 
that describe how the co-op’s owners will interact with the 
co-op, and we are asking for your vote of approval on these 
changes. Please read the Board’s recommendations on page 
34 for more information. 

This is my last president’s report after serving on the 
Board for ten years. I’ll be stepping off the Board soon and 
supporting new leadership for our co-op. I’ve learned so very 
much in this role – a few things about all the hard work and 
practical visioning it takes to run a co-op grocery store, but 
mostly about what it means to join with a crew on the deck 
and together steer the ship. It gives you a good view of why 
cooperative growth and development is more important than 
ever for addressing our many needs. 

Being a co-op board member is not like the board service 
at my local nonprofit, where, as CPA, I shared my accounting 
expertise with the grant writer and made fundraising calls. 
Our co-op runs a business, so we don’t need the volunteer 
Board of Directors to pitch in on operational matters – 
in fact, with $30M in sales and over 200 employees, a 
collective bargaining agreement, over 300 local vendors and 
cooperative purchasing contracts with national distributors, 
it would be a bit silly to think a rotating crew of volunteers 
should be relied on for their professional expertise to put 
together marketing materials, mediate staff issues, prepare 
financial reports, or provide legal advice. Instead, and 
crucially, we set policies, end goals and strategic direction 
for the co-op. We also conduct occasional capital campaigns, 
connecting with owners about making investment loans to the 
co-op.

Co-op board service is also not the paid consulting gig 
that many a corporate boardroom provides – no one has a 
greater say in things based on the money they’ve invested. 
The roles and responsibilities are just that, and no more – 
we are nine directors speaking with one voice to provide 
leadership at the governance level on behalf of the co-op 
owners. Each has the privilege and obligation to speak their 
mind, and all work toward shared understanding. We don’t 
always agree, but the questions and objections make us 
stronger and clearer, and together we co-op board members 
work pretty well together to steer the ship. 

I can say that co-op board service is decision-making 
through a different lens than either corporate boards or non-
profit boards. We pay attention to the business, and we pay 
attention to the mission. And because we’re cooperatively-
owned by the whole community, our business responsibilities 
are integrated into our community services, financial 
sustainability, values and mission-related community impact. 

President's Report
by Dorian Gregory • Board President
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The past year was by far the most 
challenging I have experienced in 18 years 
of financial leadership and budgeting for 

grocery cooperatives. The substantial uncertainty of the 
impact created by COVID-19 made it exceptionally difficult to 
budget and plan for, which necessitated continually revising 
and adjusting our projections and expectations throughout 
the year. 

We know we were not alone in businesses that have been 
negatively impacted, and many friends and neighbors have 
been devastated by the loss of work and income as well as 
their personal health and the loss of friends and loved ones. 
Being classified as an essential business meant we could 
keep our doors open, which enabled us to keep serving our 
customers’ needs, keep our employees working, and keep 
purchasing from our local vendors. We had long planned for 
the year prior the opening of our second store to include lots 
of community events and outreach activities. Instead, we 
changed our business priority to focus on operating the store 
as safely as we could during the pandemic for our staff and 
customers. 

This values-based decision resulted in budgeting 
and planning to operate at a loss due to COVID-19 related 
reductions in sales, changes in shopping patterns, capacity 
limitations, supply chain disruptions, and increased expenses. 
This obviously isn’t sustainable on an ongoing basis, but we 
expected conditions to improve and put contingency plans 
in place. While corporate chain stores laid employees off 
and stopped hazard pay after a few months, we made the 
strategic decision not to cut back staffing and to keep a $2/
hr. premium for store staff in place for over a year. We waited 
until vaccines were available for grocery workers and they 
had the opportunity to get vaccinated. We ended the COVID-19 
premium compensation in late May 2021. These values-based 
budgetary decisions also meant we would fall behind on the 
cash reserves we expected to need over the following year. 
We had hoped for a faster end to COVID-19 and a significant 
bounce back to sales growth resulting in more financially 

sustainable operating costs. 
With the challenges posed by the pandemic, we didn’t 

quite hit our operational plan. We ended the fiscal year with 
sales of $30.45M, a decline of 0.60% when compared to the 
prior year, as well as a net operating loss of (-$208K), $676K 
lower than the year before. We depleted much of our cash 
reserves and developed contingency plans should our sales 
growth not come to fruition. If we couldn’t offset our losses 
through any federal relief programs, we planned for an owner 
loan campaign to ensure we had adequate operating capital 
for the next couple years.

I am very happy to report that one of our contingency 
plans did come to fruition, and we anticipate receiving $1.8M 
in federal relief through the CARES Act Employee Retention 
Tax Credit program. This is expected to be paid in 2022, and 
will fill the gap in our cash reserves caused by the pandemic. 
This means we are not currently expecting the need to 
undertake another co-op owner loan campaign next Spring! 
As an essential business, we are very grateful for this federal 
support at this difficult time. 

I’m also very happy to report that in spite of all of the 
uncertainty and challenges over the past year, the co-op 
ended up having a very good year financially. Instead of a 
“bottom line” net loss for the fiscal year due to the pandemic, 
the CARES Act federal relief programs helped us achieve a 
$2.1 million net income. This helped makes us whole for the 
lost revenues and added expenses due to the impacts of the 
pandemic through June of 2021. 

PATRONAGE DIVIDEND REBATES
This net income will result in $310K in patronage 

dividend rebates being paid to our co-op owners. Patronage 
dividend rebates are dividends based on our co-op owners' 
purchases. Co-op owners who shopped with us between 
July 1st, 2020 and June 30th, 2021 will get a rebate on their 
grocery purchases. In corporations, dividends are earned on 
the amount you invested and the level of profits the company 
made on other people’s purchases. In food co-ops, dividends 

Financial Health
by Duke Bouchard • Chief Financial Officer

Our decision-making lens is to create a community impact 
that meets the mutual needs of our co-op owners through our 
grocery business operations.

With persistence and tenacity, we succeeded in opening 
our first store at the start of 2008. With the challenges of the 
great recession that followed, we not only made things work 
for the co-op, we helped support many local food producers 
through this challenging time and provided 100 new co-op 
jobs for the community. Our co-op is not new to facing 
challenges and overcoming obstacles. So, while the pandemic 
that began at the start of 2020 changed practically everything 
about food shopping, we knew we’d done our homework and 
that our chance of success was good. Here we are in 2021 
and what we envisioned 8 years ago, planned for, built and 

launched July 1st looks a lot like what we imagined… a second 
vibrant community co-op store that takes a little pressure off 
the Northampton store, with enough solar power generated 
on site to achieve net zero on electric power, over 13,500 
owners, and nearing 250 employees. And so far, anyone who’s 
shopped either of our fine stores, danced at a grand opening 
party on the Easthampton patio, or enjoyed the slightly less 
crowded aisles in Northampton knows that we are now one 
co-op, two stores – building a better future, together. 
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$43.17 million
Northampton & Easthampton

$45.67 million
Northampton & Easthampton

5.8% growth

FY2023

$47.98 million
Northampton & Easthampton

5.1% growth

FY2024

FY2022

$25.28
million
Northampton

FY2022

$17.89
million
Easthampton

FY2023

$26.04
million
Northampton

FY2023

$19.63
million
Easthampton

FY2024

$26.82
million
Northampton

FY2024

$21.16
million
Easthampton

9.7% growth3% growth

7.8% growth3% growth

FY2018

$28
million
Northampton

FY2019

$29.57
million
Northampton

FY2020

$30.64
million
Northampton

FY2021

$30.45
million
Northampton

5.4% growth

3.6% growth

-0.6% growth

-17% growth new income

GROWING OUR 
CO-OP, GROWING OUR 
COMMUNITY, GROWING 
A BETTER FUTURE 
TOGETHER
Over the next three years, 
we are planning to grow 
our co-op's sales 57% by 
opening a second location in 
Easthampton. We expect our 
Northampton store to remain 
strong while the Easthampton 
store gets established. The 
Easthampton store will have 
a lot of room for further 
growth and our Northampton 
store is expected to continue 
to grow following an initial 
transfer of 17% of its sales to 
the Easthampton location.

41.7t% growth

are earned on your patronage of the co-op and the 
profits from your own individual purchases. Paying these 
dividends to our owners keeps these funds invested in our 
community. It also reduces our tax burden and this year, 
very importantly, it allows the co-op to keep about $100,000 
more in its own operations. Patronage rebates will be paid 
in March 2022 and are based on your total purchases (minus 
beer and wine) from July 1, 2020 through June 30th, 2021. 

EASTHAMPTON STORE PROJECT
In January 2020, our Easthampton construction project 

had been thoroughly planned to fall within our budget, and 
we closed on financing at the end of January. In March 2020, 
the pandemic disrupted supply chains around the world. 
These new pandemic-related potential cost escalating 
factors were largely mitigated by the creativity and hard 
work of our internal Project Manager Monica Nuñez, General 
Manager Rochelle Prunty, General Contractor Wright 
Builders, their subcontractors and others on the project 
team. Their teamwork resulted in us being able to finish our 
project within our revised budget and timeline, and only a 
few months later than originally planned. 

I’m also very happy to report that our Easthampton 
store opening is going better than we had projected, and 
both stores together have resulted in over 40% sales growth 
compared to last year. This is significantly better than our 
original sales projections, which called for closer to 30% 
growth. We are in a new business development stage, so we 
expect to have losses over the coming year as we continue 
to grow into our Easthampton store, and adjust to the new 
normal in our Northampton store. The great start to our 
Easthampton store, combined with a little more elbow room 
in our Northampton store, bodes well for future success in 
both stores.

Thanks to the support and resilience of our 
staff and owners, we were able to adapt to 
the uncertainty of the pandemic. Every year, 
when I read through our annual report, I am 
reminded and truly in awe of all of the great 
accomplishments and the overall impact we 
have in our local community. As we move 
beyond COVID-19 and all of its associated 
challenges, I look forward to seeing our 
impact grow as we mature into two stores.

FY2022



Opening our Doors in EasthamptonOpening our Doors in Easthampton
Ribbon Cutting Ceremony • July 1, 2021Ribbon Cutting Ceremony • July 1, 2021
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This last fiscal year (July 1, 2020-June 
30, 2021) has been an especially complex 
journey for the co-op with multiple 

intensive issues and projects to navigate. We knew we needed 
to arrive at the end of the year ready to open the store in 
Easthampton. Multi-year plans for our co-op to expand 
operations from one store to two were in place and well 
underway when COVID struck in March of 2020. Trying to plan 
for how COVID would continue to challenge our community, 
our co-op, and our construction project required a lot of 
flexibility, creativity, and capacity to accept uncertainty. In 
spite of these challenges, I’m very happy to report that we 
made it through in good shape overall. On June 30th 2021, we 
were doing our year-end inventory counts and concurrently 
preparing to open the Easthampton store the following 
morning. 

The pandemic required rapid changes in our co-op 
operations to address safety for both staff and customers. 
There were changes, and changes to changes, as the 
recommendations from the CDC, state and local health 
department evolved. While continuing to serve our community 
and support our local vendors, safety in our co-op was our 
highest priority and we are very grateful for the success of 
our efforts. Our co-op team did an outstanding job! The level 
of flexibility, teamwork, creativity, and care that our staff 
brought to work through even the worst of the pandemic 
deserves special recognition. And even though everyone was 
going through pandemic stresses of their own, our community 
has been highly supportive of our safety efforts. Many thanks 
to excellent support from our health departments in both 
Northampton and Easthampton.

COVID IMPACT ON THE STORE
Our daily customer counts plummeted to about half of 

what they had been in April 2020, and they stayed significantly 
down. Fortunately, many of our customers shifted to larger 
weekly and bi-weekly shopping trips instead of the smaller, 
more frequent shopping trips that had been the norm in the 
“before” times. That nearly doubled the average purchase 
size. With half as many people in the store everyday buying 

close to twice as much as before, we did manage to hang onto 
most of our previous sales volume. Interestingly, we’ve had 
plenty of parking available in the Northampton store since 
COVID hit.

Managing adverse situations takes more work. Supply 
chain disruptions, sanitizing everything people touch, tracking 
and limiting the number of customers in the store, and adding 
a curbside pick-up service that served as many as 70-80 
people a day all added more work. We had already planned on 
some increased payroll costs leading into the Easthampton 
store opening. Adding the $2/hr. pandemic premium pay for 
store employees that began in March of 2020 increased our 
costs further. With the low margins in the grocery business, 
having the 0.6% reduction in sales volume and a 4.76% 
increase in payroll expenses meant we were operating at a 
loss for the year. While this is obviously not sustainable long 
term, rather than cut the $2/hr. premium before vaccines were 
available and laying people off to bring operations back into 
financial balance, we focused on working to increase sales 
and developed contingency plans for other ways to bring 
more cash into our operations. By the 4th quarter, we finally 
started to get some of the sales growth momentum we had 
been working toward. We had a lot of happy reunions with 
customers we hadn’t seen since March of 2020 starting in 
March of 2021.

We applied for both PPP and ERTC COVID relief funds in 
hopes that those funds would defray our losses. An approval 
just came through at the very end of this year for $1.8 million 
in ERTC funding to be paid in 2022. These federal COVID 
relief programs served to make us whole on the operating 
losses and shortfall in cash due to COVID-related additional 
expenses and lost revenues. We were anticipating a need to 
plan another co-op owner loan campaign to fill this gap, but 
this funding resolved our COVID-related shortfalls, which was 
a big relief!

COVID IMPACT ON THE EASTHAMPTON PROJECT
We have a highly effective facility construction and 

equipment team with our general contractor Wright Builders, 
Thomas Douglas Architects, Berkshire Design Group for 

Year in Review: FY21
General Manager's Report by Rochelle Prunty
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civil engineering and landscape design, Co-op Power 
and PV Squared on the solar part of the project, National 
Co-op Grocers Development Co-op on the store layout and 
equipment, Tighe and Bond Engineering, and a great team of 
sub-contractors and additional specialists. 

Monica Nuñez, River Valley Co-op’s expansion project 
manager, coordinated between the external team and store 
management, managed the construction budget, equipment 
purchasing and budget, grant writing, permitting process and 
supported overall problem-solving. Taking on the Expansion 
Project Manager responsibilities was a huge role that Monica 
took on with gusto and like always, she faced the challenges 
with courage and commitment. Monica’s special combination 
of superpowers in both absorbing large volumes of details 
and the ability to juggle a diversity of projects concurrently 
are much appreciated.

None of us planned on doing this building project 
during an extended pandemic, which heaped challenges on 
an already challenging expansion project. COVID did cause 
disruption to how the project work had to be organized and 
scheduled, but it didn’t dampen the construction team’s 
commitment and pride in creating the co-op in Easthampton. 

Some of the biggest COVID impacts on our project were 
some re-designs in HVAC due to our equipment order being 
canceled three weeks after it was placed (because huge 
online grocers had contracted for all their production for 
building new online grocery fulfillment centers). The roof had 
already been engineered and built for the HVAC equipment 
we had planned on. We did find an alternative, but it cost 
more, was heavier and sized differently. This required 
re-engineering and modifying the roof with an additional 
steel structure to carry the added weight. Instead of delivery 
for installation at the start of winter in 2020, it arrived in 
April, which required some creative work arounds to keep the 
project from slipping way behind. We also added equipment 
to our HVAC to meet the new ASHRAE recommendations for 
COVID. 

The supply chain disruptions meant we had extended 
equipment order lead times, delivery timelines, and increased 
shipping costs. We still have an ice machine on its way, stuck 
on a boat in a port and waiting to be unloaded! Fortunately, 
we had ordered a lot of the materials before the inflation 
on steel, wood, and other materials hit. Our team did an 
impressive job coordinating their work to make it flow as 
quickly as possible. To get through the pandemic with a 
big construction project like this and still meet our target 
opening date is amazing. That shows how dedicated our 
project team is!

PREPARING TO OPEN IN EASTHAMPTON
Our Easthampton project required a lot of co-op staff 

work. All the administrative leaders and their teams (Finance, 
Marketing, Human Resources, IT, and Purchasing), and the 
Director of Operations, Facilities Manager, store department 
managers, assistant managers, as well as other staff played 
key roles in the project. 

Getting the store prepared for opening was a huge 
project for everyone, and those working in both stores had 
to adjust to the many changes in people and new roles. 
We have been strategically working to build capacity in 
our staff for adding a second store and working toward a 

goal of promoting a lot of experienced staff to higher level 
positions to make for a stronger transition to operating two 
stores. We promoted 48 staff to higher level positions, and 
30 experienced staff transferred to the Easthampton store. 
We also hired a total of 76 new employees in June for both 
stores. It was really great to see the success of our work on 
this goal. Both stores have experienced co-op leadership and 
staff as well as some great new people. A huge thank you to 
our Director of Operations and Easthampton Store Manager 
Liesel deBoor, Assistant Easthampton Store Manager Dominic 
Jaramillo Orsulak as well as our Northampton Store Manager 
Jason Caron.

OTHER KEY PROJECTS ACCOMPLISHED IN FY21
• New POS system installed and implemented in 

Northampton store with Webcart online ordering software 
module and equipment.

• Contracted for delivery service from Lakbay Delivery 
Service, a local BIPOC woman-owned business. 

• New POS administrative system installed and implemented 
in Florence Office.

• Successfully played an advocacy role in stopping the Mass 
DOT from destroying an ancient indigenous site near our 
Northampton store.

• Developed accounting systems to add RVC Properties, LLC 
(an LLC required for our economic development funding) to 
our organizational structure. 

• Developed systems for two-store operations and 
purchasing.

• Finalized two-store staff structure and hired 76 new 
employees for opening of the Easthampton store.

• Received grant funding for eight two-car EV charging 
stations for our Easthampton store.
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GOING FORWARD WITH TWO STORES!
This will be a year of everything that we do being the 

first time doing it with two stores. The staff structure is very 
similar in both stores, with a store manager and department 
managers in each location as well as other staff positions 
that mirror each other for the most part. 

Liesel deBoor, who had been our Northampton Store 
Manager since 2016, is now our Director of Operations 
and Easthampton Store Manager. Jason Caron, who joined 
us to develop our curbside program in 2020, is now our 
Northampton Store Manager. Each store manager oversees 
the department managers in their respective stores and 
overall store operations. We have one purchasing manager 
for the center store (grocery, bulk, refrigerated grocery, and 
frozen) of both stores. For all the other departments, we 
have a senior manager in one store that manages the product 
selection, pricing, and promotions for both stores. 

I work directly with our leadership team, including 
Director of Operations and Easthampton Store Manager 
Liesel deBoor, Chief Financial Officer Duke Bouchard, Director 
of Human Resources Nicole Cowlin, Director of Marketing 
Natasha Latour, Director of IT Nate DeRose, Expansion Project 
Manager Monica Nuñez and Office Manager Debbie Marshall, 
as well as our Board Administrator Beth Skinner. 

I’m happy to report our co-op got off to a very good start 
with two stores in July. We know that a number of food co-ops 
in recent years have struggled in the transition to a second 
store and fallen short of their sales projections in both 
stores. We are happy to report we are achieving about 10% 
higher sales than we had originally anticipated and expect 
to finish the year fiscal year in July 2022 with more than 40% 
growth over last year. Of course, we built plenty more room 
for our Easthampton store to grow, and now our Northampton 
store has capacity to grow again as well. 

A lot of our focus over the coming year is going to be 
on building both store teams communication and training 
and development systems. In this year of labor shortages 
we’ve been able to get our staffing level to about 95%, 
which is excellent compared to many businesses. However, 
it underscores the importance of continuing to build our 
workplaces to be the best they can be. 

Reinventing our post-COVID prepared foods programs 
and developing a more cohesive level of consistency 
between the two stores are key goals. With the shortage of 
experienced prepared foods applicants and our aspirations 
to develop that department’s capacity for growth, we are 
planning to develop more robust training strategies to bring 
new people into prepared foods to grow their careers with us. 
We are looking forward to launching a series of events next 
Spring, Summer, and Fall on our patio in Easthampton, with 
live music and food prepared on the patio as well as having 
events at the store in Northampton again. We had a couple of 
really fun Easthampton events on the patio and look forward 
to much more of that next year. Looking beyond the coming 
year, we are thinking of a future Northampton expansion for 
prepared foods seating as well as potential future additional 
food production locations. 

We are also focusing on better daily tracking of our 
local wholesale purchases and really dialing in on increasing 
our local supply lines and supporting local food system 
development in our region. We are hovering near $7 million 

in annual local wholesale purchases, which was 34.78% of our 
total purchases last year. If we can maintain over 40% growth 
in overall sales this year, we should approach $10 million in 
local wholesale purchases. That would be nearly $3 million in 
increased support for local food producers. 

In the grocery business there are very low margins, but 
we measure our success by the success we help support 
our local producers, employees, and community partners to 
achieve as well. I’m looking forward to seeing what positive 
impacts we can grow with two River Valley Co-op stores. 

Thank you to our staff, co-op owners, all 
our co-op and community partners, and 
our Board of Directors for your collective 
support in working through this last year of 
challenges to reach this milestone. 

THANK
YOU!

SPEAKING OF  
TWO STORES...
We are aspiring to 
not use language that 
might imply one store 
is more important 
than the other, like 

saying the 1st store and 2nd store, or old store 
and new store. We are working to say River 
Valley Co-op’s Northampton store or River Valley 
Co-op’s Easthampton store, or shorten it to the 
Easthampton co-op or Northampton co-op.

ri
ve

r valley co•op

N
orthampton • Eastham

pto
n

One Co-op
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SOURCING LOCAL WOOD

We found that sourcing wood locally has 
many dimensions. This is just one little story 
of many to be told from our Easthampton 
project. It's about shared values of 
sustainability, community partnerships and 
the powerful impact of sourcing and working 
locally. 

Working with Hilltown Land Trust and 
Lashway Lumber, we were able to secure 
red oak timbers for our project from 
trees planned for removal for a habitat 
restoration project. When Wright Builders 
placed the order, the response from the 
Land Trust was: “We have some trees 
that would meet your large dimension 
specifications… they are the guardians of 
the forest so we won’t cut them down. But 
we do have some red oaks that we want to 
remove, which will work for the storefront 
with a different structural design.” 

My thought upon hearing this was that if 
we had gone to a big box lumber yard and 
placed an order, no one would have been 
there that knew the forest and its trees, no 
one would have been there to save the large 
oak guardians of some other forest, and we 
would have never known the consequences 
of our order. But because we were working 
locally with businesses and organizations 
that share our values, we were able to make 
a better choice for how we constructed our 
storefront. 

The Hilltown Land Trust gifted several red 
oaks to the co-op, Architectural Timbers in 
Hadley worked with our architect to finalize 
the design, and Lashway Lumber processed 
the trees into the timbers that hold up our 
Easthampton storefront. Tom Douglas, our 
architect, commented that he had never 
seen such well-crafted expertly-milled 
timbers. We agree the completed oak timber 
storefront is beautiful!

And the giant oak guardians of the forest 
remain at their posts.

LOCAL BANKING PARTNER
Our local bank in Easthampton, bankESB (with a 
location just across the street from the co-op), 
provided steadfast support as the lead lender 
for our project. We couldn't have done this 
project without bankESB. They were key to our 
ability to build and open River Valley Co-op in 
Easthampton. They understood our business 
needs as well as the needs of the community. 
They were our partners every step of the way, 
starting with our early planning. Local isn't just 
good for the food we eat; it's good for our banking 
too! Thank you, bankESB! You made our dreams 
for a food co-op in Easthampton come true!

WRIGHT BUILDERS, INC. CONTRIBUTED 
$7,500 TO RIVER VALLEY CO-OP LOW 
INCOME FUND
Wright Builders, Inc. donated $7,500 to River Valley 
Co-op’s Low Income Owner Assistance Program 
to help to support co-op ownership participation 
at all income levels. This contribution has been 
matched by gifts from many of the co-op’s current 
co-op owners for a total of $15,000 in new funds 
which will support 200 new low-income co-op 
ownerships. Thank you for helping our low-income 
shoppers to become co-op owners!

Maureen Mahar and Nathaniel Munson from bankESB tour our Easthampton store 
during construction with Expansion Project Manager Monica Nuñez
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We are closer than ever to reaching our goal of designing, 
building and operating the Easthampton store using the 
electricity generated on-site, on a net zero annual basis. 

As the Fall of 2021 advances, after five years of 
planning and more than a year of construction on the solar 
infrastructure, the final connections for the solar arrays at the 
Easthampton store are tantalizingly close. They are expected 
to be completed by spring of 2022. Installations at this scale 
are exceptionally slow to conclude!

Once we get the system connected, it will take a year 
of use by the co-op to know how well we succeeded in 
reaching our energy generation and usage goals. Achieving 
this goal will require ongoing monitoring of use patterns and 
occupancy settings, as well as conservation measures and 
awareness. The system aspires to meet 100% of the electric 
requirements, which we believe would be a first for a grocery 
store in North America!

Grocery stores use a LOT of electricity. 83% of the power 
consumed at the Easthampton store is projected to be used 
for processes like freezing and refrigeration. The balance of 
the usage is for heating, air conditioning, ventilation, lighting, 
computers, and other electric-powered equipment. So, the 
challenge of meeting these demands on-site is a high and 
compelling goal!! 

The Easthampton store location was formerly an auto 
dealership. It is ideal for a solar canopy installation over the 
parking lot as well as on the store rooftop. By covering 60% 
of the parking area, the entire assembly is so visible that we 
hope others will be inspired to reach for net zero operations 
using on-site generation!

The rooftop system, at about 178kW, is designed to be 
consumed by the store's ongoing operations at all times, 
while the parking lot canopy is sized at 730kW. 

As the “canopy” power is generated, it is first used to 
recharge the EOS system batteries that you see near the 
entry; the ones that look like shipping containers. Co-op 
Power decided to use these batteries because they rely on 
a more environmentally friendly zinc air technology (instead 
of lithium-ion technology) and are non-flammable (they 
weigh 25 tons each!). These are specifically designed to be 
charged and discharged daily. Co-op Power will schedule 
the batteries to discharge their energy to Eversource, the 
electric utility, between 5 AM and 7 PM daily to offset the 
peak power demands on the grid. This makes the energy more 
valuable to the utility and community users. The balance 
of the generation goes into the grid and is consumed at the 
first nearby location needing the electrons, likely River Valley 
Co-op.

The overall system is designed to integrate with the 
architecture and create a balanced and inspiring overall 
visual appeal and experience. The canopy will provide 
summer shade, winter snowfall redirection, and storm water 
collection for treatment. These advantages will reduce salt, 
sand, and snow removal needs. They will also reduce the 

“heat island” effect from the asphalt paving. The use of 
rooftops and parking lots for solar installations is the key to 
locally generated energy in populous areas. 

The system was designed by Solar Design Associates 
and developed by Co-op Power, a consumer-owned energy 
co-op. Wright Builders, Inc., of Northampton, provided site 
coordination and foundations, and PV Squared, a worker-
owned solar installation co-op, provided and installed the 
canopies and solar arrays. The project was financed by the 
solar battery manufacturer, EOS Energy systems. Co-op Power 
owns the system on behalf of River Valley Co-op until the 
financing term ends. During the financing period, the costs 
for this operation should be slightly lower than a straight 
grid-connected system. When the notes are paid, River Valley 
Co-op can become the direct owner. From that point forward, 
during the remaining decades of service of the equipment, 
operating costs at the co-op will be significantly diminished.

Underlying all the complexities of this work, and the 
at-times reluctant regulatory environment, is a monumental 
task for our times: economic prosperity while reducing carbon 
impacts. The folks at Wright Builders Inc. have spent nearly 
a half-century working to advance solutions because we 
cannot support growth of new fossil fuel-dependent sites and 
buildings while claiming to be on a path to climate change 
mitigation. 

So, for all of the folks on this team, the stakes remain 
high and worthy. By working together with co-op staff 
and management, we have accomplished the first steps in 
something extraordinary. Going forward, through a confluence 
of governmental will, ingenuity and innovation, investment 
resources, and public insistence, the story will unfold in a new 
and sustainable way. Your co-op solar team, led by General 
Manager Rochelle Prunty and deeply supported by the Board 
and co-op owners, is demonstrating that right in front of our 
eyes; moving mountains, really, with no moving parts!

Solar Energy at the 
Easthampton Store!
by Jonathan Wright • Founder & Senior Advisor of Wright Builders, Inc.

Jonathan Wright handcrafted two bird houses as a gift to River Valley Co-op.  
They are mounted on locust posts at the edge of the wetlands.
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Local Wood for a Local Co-op
by Sally Loomis • Executive Director, Hilltown Land Trust

Hilltown Land Trust’s partnership with River 
Valley Co-op began in 2007, when the land 
trust provided hemlock timbers for the post 
and beam entryway of the Northampton 
store. Ten years later, Hilltown Land Trust 
learned of the planned Easthampton co-op 
at the same time we were contemplating 
a timber harvest on our largest conserved 
property at the Westhampton-Huntington 
town line. 

We had completed a forest management plan through 
the Foresters for the Birds Program and learned that the 
forest was an important habitat for several bird species 
currently in decline, particularly if there was more early 
successional forest on-site. An early successional habitat is 
young, regenerating forest dominated by shrubs and saplings. 
This habitat is a breeding ground for several wood Warblers, 
American Woodcock, Eastern Towhee, and other species.

Hilltown Land Trust only harvests timber from our land 
if the practice achieves multiple goals. In this case, we could 
create needed habitats for several bird species, open an 
expansive view of Mount Greylock and Mount Monadnock 
from a public trail, and supply wood for local use. The timber 
harvest was carefully planned and located to maximize these 
benefits. 

When Hilltown Land Trust learned of the planned 
Easthampton co-op, we knew this was the perfect destination 
for some of our Westhampton wood. River Valley Co-op’s 
commitment to local sourcing and the partnership that began 
in 2007 inspired us to donate the red oak timbers that frame 
the entrance to the Easthampton store.

Finding the trees to meet the Easthampton co-op’s 
needs involved balancing form and function with ecological 
priorities. The original request would have required 
harvesting older trees, which we wanted to leave in the forest. 
After talking with the co-op and Wright Builders, we found 
a solution that used smaller beams and could be met by 
harvesting smaller red oaks with less habitat value than the 
older, larger trees. 

In addition to improving the forest for birds, it was 
important to HLT that the wood be milled and used locally. 
Just as buying local food supports local farms and cuts down 
on transportation carbon emissions, so too does using local 
wood. Studies have shown that an average Massachusetts 
resident uses the equivalent of one 18” wide, 100’ tall tree 
each year in wood products, 98% of which are imported to 
our state. Wood is a more sustainable, lower-carbon footprint 
building material than concrete or steel, but is generally more 
costly.

Providing lumber for the Easthampton store meant wood 
from this harvest was being milled and used less than 15 
miles from its point of origin. (Much of the milling was done 
by Lashway Lumber in Williamsburg and Westfield.)

Hilltown Land Trust conserves land locally for natural 
habitat, public recreation, farms, working forests, clean 
water and air, and scenic beauty. We are always excited 
to partner with organizations like River Valley Co-op, with 
their commitment to local people, the local economy, 
the environment, and a sustainable future for Western 
Massachusetts.
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Co-op Power is a consumer-owned, sustainable energy 
cooperative. Lynn Benander, the president of Co-op Power, 
has been a major innovative force in financing community 
solar arrays in a way that allows communities the opportunity 
to own the array over time. In 2017, we reached out to Lynn to 
ask if Co-op Power could help us include solar power on the 
food co-op project we were developing in Easthampton. 

After getting an overview of the program about Co-op 
Power’s financing framework that makes community-based 
ownership of solar power installation projects possible, 
we agreed to sign onto the preliminary project feasibility 
process. Co-op Power has a program that provides financing 
of the solar project with repayment structured into a power 
purchase agreement and an equity flip for ownership by the 
co-op at the end of the term. 

Solar Design Associates was engaged to develop a 
design for the rooftop of our proposed Easthampton facility. 
When the initial drafts came back, we saw that even with an 
extensive array on the roof, the solar output fell short of our 
goal. Grocery stores have very large power demands because 
of all the refrigeration, so even with the >170kW that was 
projected for the rooftop it didn’t meet our goal of at least 
30% of the projected >900kW usage. 

For context, in 2008 we installed a 34kW solar 
array on our rooftop in Northampton. That was a major 
accomplishment for the co-op at the time, and it offsets 
about 5% of our total electric power usage. We don’t know 
of any grocery stores that are net zero through on-site solar 
generated power. Anecdotally, we’ve heard that there are 
not enough days of sun to make net zero solar grocery store 
installations feasible in the Northeast. We know of a similar 
sized food co-op in Grass Valley California (where the sun 
always shines, I think) that put a solar canopy over part of 
their parking lot, offsetting nearly 50% of their annual power 
usage.

This made me curious about what could really be possible 
from a solar design perspective on our site. I asked SDA 
Solar Engineer Steven Strong if it was possible to design an 
installation that would have enough capacity to offset 100% 
of our projected usage. Steven Strong took my question as a 
design challenge. In our next meeting, he showed us a design 
that would produce over 900kW annually to offset 100% of our 
projected power usage. The design included a solar canopy 
over the majority of the parking lot in addition to the roof 
and storefront PV array. I was really excited to see this, but I 
had one more question: is there a way to make this financially 
feasible?

That is when Lynn Benander and the Co-op Power team’s 
super powers kicked in with financial modeling using solar tax 
credits and the SMART program etc. The preliminary response 
was that there were a couple ways that it could work, but the 
savings for the co-op’s electric bill would be reduced to closer 
to market rates until the end of the financing term. Note that 
Lynn said it “could” work. There was no guarantee, and many 
daunting hurdles would need to be addressed before we 
would knew if this actually would work. Lynn described the 
process of getting permitted, interconnection agreements, 

and financing as a 
“solar coaster” with no 
guarantees we would 
successfully reach the 
end. 

Our goal for this 
project was not a 
financial return; the 
co-op was looking for 
an opportunity to reach 
net zero in our electric 
use with our own 
on-site generated solar 
power, and it appeared 
there was potential to do that. With support from our Board 
of Directors, we agreed to move forward to the next steps. 
For us, the next steps included a lot of meetings with Lynn as 
well as Jon Ruth from Co-op Power, Jonathan Wright of Wright 
Builders, Steven Strong of SDA, Monica Nuñez our project 
manager and myself, as well as other members of SDA, Wright 
Builders, and our project team. A huge amount of planning, 
number crunching, revisions to plans, negotiations, more 
number crunching, and paperwork was involved, too. 

RIDING THE SOLAR COASTER
It has been a long solar coaster ride and a nail-biter 

nearly every step of the way. One white-knuckled moment on 
this solar coaster ride was having the financing fall through 
very late in 2020. Without the tax incentives that were set to 
decrease at the end of 2020, this project wasn’t financially 
feasible. That meant that if we couldn’t get financing before 
the clock struck midnight on December 31st 2020, our planned 
solar project would turn into a pumpkin. 

I think any other solar developer would have just said, 
“I’m sorry that didn’t work out,” but our cooperative solar 
developer didn’t. Co-op Power kept working while the clock 
ticked ever closer to midnight to try to save this net zero 
project.

One important aspect of our project includes two 
EOS solar batteries that weigh 25 tons each. EOS is a solar 
battery manufacturer that has created an environmentally-
friendly zinc-based battery. This is an exciting, effective 
and innovative alternative to the standard lithium-ion solar 
battery technology. Lynn arranged a meeting with us and 
the leadership team of EOS about our predicament, and they 
offered to make a long-term loan to us to allow the project to 
move forward. 

 “We are proud to support this innovative project,” said 
EOS CEO Balki Iyer. “Our technology was a great fit for what 
they were trying to do, and there was massive alignment 
between the vision held by River Valley Co-op and Co-op 
Power and our company’s vision - uplifting communities and 
reducing our carbon footprint.”

We were still working on the financing agreement at 9pm 
on New Year’s Eve. Thanks to our attorney David Bloomberg 
and all the other attorneys working late with Co-op Power 

Co-op Power
by Rochelle Prunty • General Manager
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and EOS, Co-op Power closed on the financing with EOS. Our 
solar project did not turn into a pumpkin as the clock struck 
midnight in 2021! 

We encountered multiple roadblocks on this solar 
coaster ride that required more clout than we had on our own. 
Easthampton Mayor Nicole LaChapelle, our Congressperson 
Chairman Richard E. Neal and Anthony Cignoli all provided 
added support that resulted in opening a path to move 
forward. 

We still haven’t reached the end of this solar coaster 
ride. The panels are all installed, but we are waiting on 
delivery and installation of inverters for the solar batteries 
and utility poles from Eversource, along with a final utility 
interconnection. We are hoping to get the interconnection 
completed by early Spring 2022. We are also still seeking 
an investor to take advantage of the solar tax credits. This 
would reduce the length of the financing term between EOS 
and Co-op Power from 20 years to closer to seven years. That 
would enable River Valley Co-op to take over ownership of the 
solar installation many years sooner. 

Once we are connected and running, it will still take a 
year to verify that our actual power usage is fully offset by 
our actual solar power production to reach net zero. Our 
usage projections include electric powered, air based heat 
pumps for our store’s HVAC, which is a new technology for 
us. We are getting support lined up now to monitor and 
effectively manage our power usage and ensure we reach our 
net zero goal.

RIVER VALLEY CLIMATE JUSTICE INITIATIVE
There is a great benefit for our community from this 

solar installation through Co-op Power’s Community Solar 
Program. We’ve partnered to create the River Valley Climate 
Justice initiative to use 50% of the power from our parking 
lot array for 100 low income community members to save 15% 
off their monthly Eversource bills. This is available to the first 
100 low income Eversource customers who subscribe to the 
River Valley Climate Justice Initiative. Low-income households 
can take advantage of this initiative from any of the cities 
and towns served by Eversource in Western Massachusetts. 
Households can qualify if they currently have the R2 low-
income electricity rate. To see if you qualify, check your 
Eversource electric bill. The R2 rate is next to the “Delivery” 
line. You may qualify even without the R2 rate if you live in 
one of these zip codes: 01103, 01105, 01107 and 01109. If you 
receive other social benefits, like Mass Health, SNAP, LIHEAP, 
etc., you may qualify, too. 

 To sign up, go to www.cooppower.coop/community-
solar-signup with your Eversource bill in-hand and fill out 
the Community Solar signup form. The Co-op Power team 
will let you know if you qualify and forward the agreement 
to participate. If you have questions, please email them to 
solar@cooppower.coop or call 413-772-8898, ext. 2.

COMMITMENT AND TEAMWORK TO STRETCH TO 
NEW POSSIBILITIES

“River Valley Co-op’s Easthampton store is offsetting all 
of the electricity needed to run their store for over a year 
while generating energy for low-income communities nearby. I 
don’t know of another grocery store in the U.S. that can make 
that claim,” said Lynn Benander. “This is something others 
are hoping to do in twenty years. It was an honor to work with 

River Valley Co-op on this solar project. Their commitment 
to doing the right thing for their co-op owners, for the 
community, and for the planet was inspirational.”

Our whole solar team went way out on a limb with River 
Valley Co-op to make this happen, including the engineers 
at Solar Design Associates, our General Contractor Wright 
Builders, worker-owned solar installation cooperative PV 
Squared, EOS, the City of Easthampton and the visionary 
leadership and support of Co-op Power with Lynn Benander’s 
dedicated and persistent work to make this ground-breaking 
project a reality. In spite of the hurdles stacked against 
community-based ownership of solar installations, together 
we are nearing the successful completion of this nearly 
impossible net zero cooperative grocery store solar project. 

Can we address climate change through climate justice? 
There is a lot of debate about whether or not we should 
allow corporations to build solar facilities by cutting forests, 
bulldozing through and building on wetlands, important 
Indigenous heritage sites, and farmland. Those large solar 
facilities are the most profitable. The solar incentives 
are simply not geared for addressing climate change by 
empowering people and communities to own their own 
rooftop and parking installations. Co-op Power has figured 
out how to set up a framework that makes it possible anyway. 
The work that Co-op Power is doing demonstrates that 
climate change can be addressed with solar power while also 
working for environmental and social justice. Their work helps 
empower people and communities to build our own net zero 
solutions together. 

We are deeply grateful for everyone involved in working 
to make our net zero solar power food co-op dream a reality!

ABOUT CO-OP POWER
Co-op Power has a uniquely cooperative approach to 
community solar development. It is a multi-race, multi-class 
network of Community Energy Co-operatives committed to 
solar development that is locally led and owned. This network 
of energy cooperatives throughout New England and New York 
is working at the intersection of environmental and social 
justice by financing, building and managing solar arrays that 
provide discounts on electricity to low-income households 
throughout the region. These community solar arrays seek to 
include communities that are often excluded from the solar 
revolution while also creating sources of renewable energy 
that move us away from burning fossil fuels for our energy 
needs. 

Co-op Power co-creates sources of renewable energy to 
reverse climate change and build new economic structures 
that put people and planet first while also building energy 
security and resilience through locally owned and managed 
power. The local Community Energy Co-ops in the Co-op 
Power network have developed solar projects on community 
nonprofits, affordable housing, cooperatives and houses of 
worship – wherever community partners have the commitment 
and an appropriate site for solar development.

To join the movement for community-led, community-owned 
solar development, become a member of Co-op Power at  
www.cooppower.coop – because energy security and 
resilience lie in communities owning and generating their 
power.
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Last year while writing this report, I 
remembered gathering data and thinking 
back over 2020 as a whole – wondering how I 

would put into words the most challenging year any of us had 
ever faced. As I reread what I had written, I sat there stunned 
at what the Human Resources team and co-op overall had 
accomplished. This year, I find myself in the same spot, with 
only a slightly different narrative. Despite still operating in 
a world impacted on many levels by the pandemic and its 
constant change, we have not only learned how to navigate 
that change, but thrive in that change. 

OPENING OUR EASTHAMPTON STORE
In addition to the added workload and organizational 

attention required by the pandemic over the last year, we had 
a store to staff and open in Easthampton. Years of planning 
had gone into the store opening to build our internal staff 
capacity and management resources. Still, the heavy-lift 
for additional store staffing came only a couple months 
before opening and needed to be completed in a brief 
timeframe. We finalized the staffing structure and began 
making staffing decisions in March. By the store opening 
July 1st, we had hired, onboarded, and trained 76 new staff! 
A total of 30 staff transferred to the Easthampton location, 
and 48 staff members were promoted to elevated positions 
in both locations. We successfully met our strategic plan 
to strengthen our internal resources for expanding to two 
locations, with experienced staff prepared to step up to 
additional responsibilities in both stores.

WAGES
On March 9th, 2020, in agreement with the UFCW Local 

1450, we implemented a $2.00 per hour Essential Community 
Service Compensation (ECSC) for our store staff to recognize 
the added challenges of working in a retail environment 
during the pandemic state of emergency. We continued the 
added compensation ten or more months longer than most 
area retail employers. It was not sustainable long-term, but 
it was important for that especially difficult period before 
vaccines were available to grocery workers. As grocery 
workers became eligible to receive vaccinations, with mutual 

agreement by the UFCW Local 1459, we tapered the ECSC 
to $1.00 per hour on April 26th, 2021 and discontinued the 
program on May 23rd, 2021. At the conclusion of this program, 
the co-op paid $572,580 in Essential Community Service 
Compensation to staff. At this time, the lowest entry-level 
wage on our wage scale is $15 per hour.

Our total personnel expenses increased by 4.76% to 
$7,932,787 in FY2021. This figure includes over ten months with 
the Essential Community Service Compensation in the last 
fiscal year compared to about four months in the prior year. 
These added expenses were challenging during a year with 
slightly lower overall sales than the prior year, and we are 
grateful for the federal relief that helped defray these added 
costs as well as other added expenses and lost revenues over 
the last couple of years. 

As of June 30, 2021, the average hourly wage in the 
co-op’s non-supervisory roles was $16.20, staying well-above 
the Massachusetts minimum wage of $13.50. The MA Bureau 
of Labor Statistics estimates an overall non-supervisory 
retail market median wage rate of $13.97/hr. (May 2020) while 
the national average is currently $12.36/hr. Currently, we are 
happy to see a lot more area employers joining us in offering 
$15/hr minimum starting wages.

Early in the pandemic, when the need for a leave of 
absence became apparent to many of our staff members, the 
co-op funded the program with an additional $20,000 in funds 
to keep those staff whole on compensation. This is in addition 
to the COVID-related paid time off provided by the federally 
funded COVID relief program (the federal program has 
elapsed, but at this time Massachusetts is funding a support 
program we are enrolled in to support potential qualifying 
COVID-related staff needs). To date, the co-op has granted 
$12,354 of the $20,000 we made available in additional 
paid time off. We had 17 people on leave related to remote 
learning requirements for school-age children and lack of 
childcare, and 94 additional staff that were granted various 
leave options supported by federal COVID relief funding. Very 
fortunately, we had no workplace COVID outbreaks. So far, we 
only had one employee diagnosed with COVID while working 
in the store during the whole course of the pandemic. We 
were very transparent in reporting this to our co-op owners 
in our newsletter upon getting the information. Thankfully, 

Working at the Co-op
by Nicole Cowlin • Human Resources Director 
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they have since recovered and returned to work. We are 
happy to report that there was no workplace spread from that 
potential exposure. The only other staff person that tested 
positive for the virus was already on leave when diagnosed, 
and they also recovered and returned to work.

BENEFITS
In January 2021, we reconfigured how we administer paid 

time off to recognize how important it is for employees to 
remain home when sick. Previously, our accrued Paid Time 
Off was used for both personal and sick time totaling a 
maximum of 40 hours. Our new policy breaks the time out 
into two different categories of pay: Personal Time and Sick 
Time. Upon hire and in January moving forward, we added two 
additional paid personal days totaling 16 hours and 40 hours 
of Massachusetts Earned Sick Time. This is in addition to paid 
vacation time, which ranges from two weeks up to four weeks 
per year for the longer term employees.

In 2019, we implemented a more comprehensive benefits 
plan with a four-tier structure so that individuals and smaller 
families have lower-cost benefit options. Currently, 79.95% of 
eligible employees receive healthcare benefits at an increase 
of 6.6%, 75% receive dental benefits with no change from last 
year, and 53.79% have vision benefits at an increase of 5.5%.

In 2019, we moved our 401k retirement plan to a socially 
responsible investment plan for retirement earnings from 
investments in businesses that meet socially responsible 
business criteria. This aligns well with the co-op’s values. 
We also added a 401k match component of up to 1.5% with a 
53.39% participation rate of eligible employees. This is down 
9.5% from the previous year with some turnover of eligible 
staff. We anticipate that as some of our new staff become 
eligible this will increase to higher levels again. We also plan 
to increase the co-op's match to 4% in January, which will 
also help increase the participation rate with this employee 
benefit. 

STAFFING
In FY21, as we planned for the opening of the 

Easthampton location staffing, we held several days of hiring 
events at Mill 180 Park and the Easthampton store. As a result 
of the hiring events and other recruiting efforts, we added 76 
staff between March and the end of the fiscal year. 

Additionally, with support from the management team, 
we continue to improve cross-training functionality and 
better scheduling practices utilizing a few part-time staff 
to fill in the operational gaps. We increased our full-time 
ratio slightly from 88% to 89% over the last year and remain. 
We remain committed to providing a high level of full-time 
employees. We are far above the national retail grocery trend 
at less than 50% of the staff at full-time status.

Organizationally, at the end of the fiscal year, we 
employed 208 staff members; 107 Northampton, 80 
Easthampton, and 21 Administrative Office, and had about 25 
open positions to fill.

The labor market was especially challenging over the 
summer months. While we were very successful in hiring a 
lot of people prior to July 1st, the availability of additional 
food service workers in particular has been low due in part 
to the long closure of restaurants and reopening process 
that began in June. We were about 90% staffed through the 

summer and are now at about 95% with about a dozen current 
job openings. We are faring better than many retailers and 
food service businesses, but it is requiring a larger focus of 
resources on hiring than we have experienced before. 

Our staff turnover rate was 33.65% for the year, which is 
well below the retail industry average of about 65%. This is 
higher than the 20.25% from the previous year. We expected 
and anticipated the higher turnover given the large number 
of new hires. This low turnover rate with a new store opening 
in this labor market is a strong testament to the successes 
we have had in providing meaningful work in a caring work 
environment.

DIVERSITY AND INCLUSION
We strive to reflect our community’s diversity and 

inclusivity in our workplace, and we have largely succeeded 
as you can see in the chart above. The racial diversity of 
our community remains low, at 82% identifying as white in 
Northampton and 89% in Easthampton. While we are doing 
relatively well by the very reasonable measure of reflecting 
our community demographics, we see there is more work to 
do on inclusion and equity and are committed to continuing 
that work.

We continue to work with several organizations and 
community groups to source applicants and candidates that 
reflect our cooperative values. We have collaborated with 
The Language Bank to provide translation services for staff 
with limited English proficiency. This service enables us to 
have 24/7 support over the phone, in-person interpreter 
services, and document translation. We also have plans to 
work with the International Language Institute on several 
training initiatives that will help create an even more inclusive 
environment. 

The Social Justice Committee is open to all staff that 
wish to participate and is led by the Director of Marketing 
and the Director of Human Resources. This year, the Social 
Justice Committee partnered with management on the 
development and implementation of the Code of Conduct for 
all who work, shop, and visit the co-op. This policy outlines 

Co-op Staff  
Demographics

Northampton 
Demographics

Easthampton 
Demographics

American Indian  
or Alaska Native

0.57% 0.02% 0.00%

Asian/Pacific 
Islander

0.27% 3.30% 1.50%

Black or African 
American

5.58% 2.20% 1.90%

Hispanic or Latino 10.58% 8.70% 4.50%

Two or  
More Races

6.43% 4.20% 3.50%

White 72.52% 82.20% 89.20%

Unspecified/do 
not wish to self 

identify
4.05% n/a n/a
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Paying it 
Forward

In 2013, River Valley Co-op’s Board 
of Directors established The River Valley 
Co-op Community Fund a nonprofit 
charitable foundation. The River Valley 
Co-op Community Fund, is managed by the Twin Pines 
Cooperative Foundation/Co-op Community Fund (TPCF/CCF). 
The River Valley Co-op Community Fund is one of 40 individual 
food co-op community funds participating in this Twin Pines 
Cooperative Foundation program. River Valley Co-op’s fund is 
aggregated with those of other food co-ops from our region 
and invested to support new co-op development in the 
Northeast. The patient capital the fund provides is important 
for leveraging additional loan capital needed for regional 
co-op development. In turn, the annual earnings from the 
investments are donated to local non-profits selected by the 
co-ops participating in the Co-op Community Fund. The 40 
individual food co-ops participating in this program have now 
donated over $500,000 to regional nonprofits.

HOW THE RIVER VALLEY CO-OP COMMUNITY  
FUND WORKS

The co-op has built its community fund to over $165,000 
since 2013 with donations from its business and co-op owners 
while matching funds from some of its vendors. The funds 
are invested in a variety of regional co-op projects. The 
annual earnings of River Valley Co-op’s Community Fund are 
then donated to local nonprofits selected by the Board of 
Directors. For 2021, there were $6,000 in earnings from the 
fund’s investments in regional co-ops that supported six 
$1,000 River Valley Co-op Community Fund grants for local 
nonprofits.

 The Twin Pines Cooperative Foundation Co-op 
Community Fund has $4 million in total assets, with $2.4 
million invested in the Northeast. TPCF/CCF is the largest 
co-op organization funder in the United States of the 
three main lenders of patient capital to food and other 
cooperatives. Twin Pines Cooperative Foundation President 
David Thompson describes the Co-op Community fund as the 
financial yeast that makes co-op bread rise.

WHY THE CO-OP COMMUNITY FUND IS IMPORTANT 
TO RIVER VALLEY CO-OP

The co-op community fund is a program that enables 
River Valley Co-op to invest in cooperative development in our 
region. This is a way to support the cooperative movement 
and to pay it forward for the support that River Valley Co-op 
received in our start-up, including $600,000 in funding from 
50 individual food co-ops across the country in 2007. That 
$600,000 was key to River Valley Co-op’s final financing for the 
building and opening of the Northampton co-op store. 

The River Valley Co-op Community Fund is just one 
program the co-op utilizes in support of nonprofits and other 
cooperatives. Since its opening in 2008, River Valley Co-op has 
made over $1 million in donations, in-kind contributions, and 
sponsorships to support hundreds of nonprofits that support 
the community and the cooperative movement.

2021 $1,000 COMMUNITY GRANT FUND WINNERS:

• The Pascommuck Conservation Trust 

• LightHouse Holyoke 

• People’s Medicine Project 

• Nolumbeka Project

• Hope of Wheels

• Sojourner Truth School for Social Change Leadership

our commitment to providing a safe, inclusive and welcoming 
environment, established a better system that includes more 
specificity in how customers who engage in disrespectful and 
harassing conduct will be addressed, and clarifies guidelines 
for staff encountering hurtful interactions. Our goal was to 
set boundaries that support our community and staff and to 
be compassionate with the different levels of learning and 
awareness in the process.

SAFETY
Our worker's comp rating (experience mod), which 

considers the frequency and severity of worker's 
compensation claims, has remained consistent at 1.04. 
Although our results are close to our goal, we aim to do better 
by reducing them to 1.0 or below. We are in the process of 
shifting our primary safety focus away from COVID issues 
and back to normal operating practices with regular safety 
committee meetings. Now that we are starting to settle 
into operations in Easthampton, we will be adding safety 

committee members there, as well. 
The Human Resources team recognizes the importance 

of investing in our most valuable asset: our staff. We 
focus on delivering support with integrity, compassion, 
and responsiveness. We are the central resource for staff 
questions and concerns, offering a wide range of staff 
guidance as a co-op workplace partner. We also provide 
strategic leadership and support to management focusing 
our workplace development that meets River Valley Co-op’s 
mission of creating a just marketplace that nourishes the 
community. I am often asked about what I enjoy about 
working at the co-op, and the simple answer is: the people. 
The level of commitment to our mission and values that our 
dedicated, hardworking staff demonstrate on a daily basis, as 
well as the creativity and collaboration from our management 
team goes above and beyond anything I could have imagined 
when I joined the co-op three years ago. We work hard and 
we have fun while doing it. I could not be more proud of our 
co-op and all of our accomplishments this past year.
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We're We're wild aboutwild about  
our co-op staff!our co-op staff!
Our hard-working staff members in Northampton and 
Easthampton are just one of the many things that make 

our co-op such a special place to shop and work. 
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Riverland Farm • Sunderland, MA

Local Food by the Numbers

What Local Means to Us
A Local Hero product sticker signifies farms and businesses that qualify for the CISA (Community Involved in 
Sustaining Agriculture) Local Hero label by growing or producing products in the Pioneer Valley made with 
ingredients sourced here, as well. 

You'll see all of our local products marked with a Local Color sticker at the co-op. 

We consider products grown, produced, or manufactured in New England (MA, VT, NH, ME, RI, CT) and up to 
150-miles from the co-op into NY state to be local. 

One of the important ways we fulfill 
our mission as a just marketplace 

that nourishes the community is by 
making local food a priority.

We buy 
from 203

Local Vendors
142

Local Farms
&

$6,789,915 Local  
Purchases
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Apex Orchards • Shelburne Falls, MA

Your Local FY21 Purchases

5,309lbs
of honey

7,460lbs
of asparagus

4,148lbs
of peaches

86,698lbs
of apples

6,134lbs
of maple syrup

17,609gal
of milk 

• Thousands of Weekly Customers & Owners 
• 345+ Local Farmers & Vendors
• CISA (Community Involved in Sustaining Agriculture)

• Grow Food Northampton

• NFCA (Neighboring Food Co-op Association)

• NOFA (Northeast Organic Farming Association)

• New England Farmers Union

Key Local Food Partners
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Not everyone can look at an abandoned car dealership 
and envision the perfect place to create our second retail 
location with a solar installation to make our store net zero. 
Our project team did.

I still stand in awe every time I pull into our parking lot 
and look at our fabulous creation.

I can still smell the dirt from the 17-foot deep holes we 
drilled into the ground for the vertical uprights for the solar 
canopy. It was early September 2020, and the ground was very 
wet and muddy. The truck with the auger actually got stuck 
in the back southwestern corner of the lot, which caused 
dirt and mud to fly everywhere. I touch the concrete of the 
footings for those uprights and remember the day we did the 
first pour. It was unseasonably chilly and windy that day, and 
later that evening we had a storm with very high winds. We 
arrived on-site the next morning to find both of the sani-cans 
had tipped over (it is funny what events are linked together in 
your memories). 

On some of the really hot days this past summer, I could 
smell the asphalt and the paint from the lot lines. Even 
though I hate the smell of hot tar, it was a joyous day in 
November 2020 when we put that binder coat down before 
the snow. I look toward the street and see all the plantings 
and the wildflowers growing, bees pollinating and the black-
eyed susans and echinacea waving in the breeze. Next year, 
the seed mix will fully take off and the meadow areas we’ve 
created will be abundant with flowers (it was a very hot and 
dry spring this year!).

Approaching the building, I am struck by the entryway 
installed in late February to March of 2021, with locally grown 
and sustainably harvested red oak donated by the Hilltown 
Land Trust, milled locally by Lashway Lumber, and built by 
Architectural Timbers, a local contractor specializing in 
wood timber construction. It is reminiscent of the timber 
framed entrance at our Northampton store, which is made 
from hemlock timbers also locally grown and sustainably 
harvested by the Hilltown Land Trust and milled by Lashway 
Lumber. As it ages, it will take on a more weathered look 
(don’t we all). 

As I enter the front doors, I’m struck by the sunlight 
streaming through the clerestory windows. The effect is 
breathtaking, as is the ceiling fan installed way up high to 
help move air on both hot and cold days as it swirls around; 
almost like it’s waving, “come on in – everyone is welcome 
here.” No one will ever know how many times we went up and 
down on a lift to paint, touch up paint and remove labels up 
there. 

Our produce department beckons as I move into the 
store. The fresh displays in the coolers just beg to be 
shopped. It almost makes me forget how late those cases 
came in, and how we struggled to unload them on a frigid 
January morning. Now (especially now, considering all the 
supply chain issues) I am simply I am simply grateful they 
are here and happily humming along in their energy-efficient 
design.

The wellness area feels like being in an apothecary with 
potions and creams and supplements galore. The custom, 
hand-made desk is like a little island of helpfulness, and 
although the design was changed many, many times, our 
cabinetmaker still delivered on time.

I can smell the cheeses on display and marvel at the vast 
displays of local items. These cases were the last to come in, 
on yet another frigid day, this time in early March. The curved 
portion is actually two separate cases, each in the shape of a 
J, which fit together end-to-end. The wine racks fit beautifully 
under the custom soffit and artwork signs – and offer great 
selections (if I do say so myself).

Around the corner is the bulk area, with a structure 
made of locally harvested and milled wood from the Hilltown 
Land Trust and Lashway Lumber. This one is made of white 
pine timbers constructed by Mike Philbrook. It’s like a whole 
separate experience – a bulk store within the store. Of 
course, it’s supposed to feel like that, but sometimes I’m still 
surprised by it. This was erected in mid-March, before we had 
the fixtures, bins, and dispensers (and the sink!) that you see 
in the aisles today.

Dry grocery is a happy expanse of shelving and product. 
The shelving units have to be preassembled and moved in six-
foot units with this cool piece of equipment that looks like 
a really, really long car jack (we’ve used it when we’ve done 
resets in our Northampton store as well – you can move an 
entire shelf set quite quickly, but mindful of the glass jars). 
The opening from the bulk department into the dry goods 
area was a last-minute change to make shopping easier – but 
not assembly! Each endcap had to be added on and product 
layout was redesigned to make it work. We think it makes that 
area easier to move around in, is also a bit of a highlight for 
the solar tubes in the roof that run the expanse from E to W. If 
you look up at them, you’ll notice they have a diffuser (similar 
to a kaleidoscope) that casts the daylight from above the 
store inward, helping us save on lighting (while reducing both 
additional light fixture costs, and ongoing electricity use as 
well as expense).

Our refrigerated and frozen cases were designed with 
both energy efficiency and lighting in mind. If you shop when 
there are not a lot of folks in the store, you’ll note that the 
lights on the cases come on – the sensors can tell when they 
don’t need to be lit up. The heat that is put off to keep the 
cases cool is recaptured and utilized in our HVAC system. 
(if you’re tall enough to see some of the piping on top of 
the cases, that’s what said pipes are doing). The cases were 
supposed to come in bottom-piped so all that behind-the-
scenes stuff wouldn’t be visible but… there was no chance we 
were sending them back and gambling on when replacements 
would arrive. Our dairy box is an insulated panel unit with 
full lite doors on the front so you can see what you want 
before having to open the doors – which is another energy 
savings measure and helps alleviate the dreaded humidity 
fog on the glass. The angled area to the L of the dairy box was 
originally going to be bulk kombucha taps, but COVID required 

A Building for a Better Future: Reflections on the 
Easthampton Co-op Building Project
by Monica Nuñez • Expansion Project Manager
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a redesign of that space so the kombucha on tap is now 
available in our deli beverage section.

The Meat and Seafood department was one of our 
biggest design efforts, from how to keep it open and visible 
to customers, yet still maintain sanitation and proper 
temperatures for food handling. We started with the cases, 
and worked our way back from there. The seafood case is our 
shining star – we are the second co-op in the U.S. to have this 
model! But choosing this meant additional “clean ceilings” 
(coated polyboard that doesn’t allow dust or other debris 
to stick to it that might fall on the food) and some creative 
cabinet work to accommodate the shape. This case is also 
much more ergonomically correct for setting product, serving 
customers, and cleaning at the end of the night. It also allows 
us to use direct ice, which reduces the need for refrigeration 
and electricity.

Prepared foods was perhaps our biggest COVID-related 
challenge. When it became clear that a salad and hot foods 
bar was most likely not coming back in the near future, we 
had to redesign most of the department (we had the same 
issue at Northampton, unfortunately). What you see now as 
service cases and the bistro line was originally planned to 
be a curve of self-service prepared foods, ending with made-
to-order pizza and slices. We quickly had to cancel orders 
for all of that equipment and replace it with the built-in hot 
plates that you see now. But yay, we still have the pizza! Right 
now we’re still dealing with a couple equipment challenges 
including two pieces of equipment that haven’t come in yet 
(even though they were ordered over a year ago). As of this 
writing, said missing pieces are “on the water”, which is the 
current catchphrase for “lost in shipping land.” Meanwhile, 
our dish machine also didn’t arrive on time. We had to finish 
the tiling and the walls, so it was a VERY interesting squeeze 
to get that monster through the finished space and doorways 
when it finally got here in mid-May (thank the heavens for 
Evan, our Facility Manager, who deserves two gold stars for 
that one). When the kombucha tap unit arrived, it was larger 
than planned, so that area had to be redesigned a bit as well. 

The recycled barnboard from Hatfield that you see 
throughout the store was installed by Oxbow Design Build, 
an Easthampton worker-owned cooperative. They built the 
cabinetry and millwork using the same local recycled barn 
wood. 

Throughout the store (if you look up), you’ll see 
the ventilation system that ties to the Energy Recovery 

Ventilation [EVR] units on the roof. This amazing system 
allows us to utilize the highest value filtration – MERV13 – 
to ensure the ample fresh air coming in as well as moving 
through the store is repeatedly cleaned. (You know that 
feeling you get when you’re on an airplane, or in an elevator? 
Not going to happen in your co-op!) We also installed HVAC 
technology that degrades viruses, mold, and bacteria in 
the air as part of ventilation system. This was an ASHRAE 
recommendation for safer indoor air to address COVID issues 
(we also added the system to the Northampton store, as well 
as our Florence administrative offices). There are also units 
that look like upside-down cauldrons that are part of that 
same system – these allow us to move heated air from the 
front of the store and dissipate it throughout.

You might not have noticed all the solar panels on the 
rooftop next to those amazing parking lot solar canopies (and 
because the roof is up so high). Once this system is up and 
running (we expect a February 2022 start-up date) we will be 
creating almost 1MW of electricity.

I am so incredibly proud of this building and the team 
that worked so hard to help us create it. I hope that everyone 
who reads this will take a moment the next time you’re out 
shopping to revel in all that we’ve created together, as we 
couldn’t have done this without you.

This will be my last submission for an annual report, as 
my employment with the co-op is coming to a close. From my 
first days in Rochelle’s kitchen back in 2007 working on the 
Northampton store construction project and opening until 
now, there’s not a whole lot that I would change. I am grateful 
and honored to have served as our Finance and HR Manager, 
and most recently as our Expansion Project Manager. I 
have grown and learned so much, both professionally 
and personally. Thank you all – past, present, and future 
– for your belief in and support of our co-op, shopping 
locally, supporting good union jobs, and growing a vibrant 
cooperative community.

Go forward and continue building on all we’ve 
accomplished together.

All the best from me, the loud one with the 
long hair and the ever-present pencil behind 
my ear…
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The Project Team on this endeavor was 
an amazing collaboration of great minds, 
forward thinkers, problem solvers, creative 
souls, experienced professionals, strong 
leaders, dedicated craftspeople, and skilled 
hard-working boots-on-the-ground trades 
workers. 
Monica Nuñez is our Expansion Project Manager. She has 
overseen, coordinated and managed the many aspects of 
our Easthampton expansion project for the co-op. She has 
overseen a wide range of expansion issues including store 
layout, fixture planning, permitting, site planning, and 
construction coordination working between our project team 
and staff. She has supported the project budget development 
and managed the final project budget. Monica attended 
construction project meetings as well as solar project 
planning meetings... a lot of meetings! Monica successfully 
completed grant writing for our EV charging stations, provided 
information for the MassWorks grant, and worked with 
our engineers and contractors to secure energy efficiency 
rebates on equipment and lighting. She managed the store 
equipment purchasing and delivery coordination, reviewed all 
the project invoices and ensured accurate documentation for 
requisitions submitted to our lenders for payment. Over the 
past few months, Monica has been working with contractors 
on the final punch list completion, securing rebates and 
grant payments, chasing down credits, and a whole host 
of problem solving including equipment delivery delays, 
solar project issues, and other project completion tasks. 
She is also wrapping up all the final building and equipment 
documentation manuals for store operations staff and the 
facility manager. 

Having Monica in this position overseeing the project 
was key support to help us to make this huge leap from one 
store to two. Monica brought her 14 years of experience 
in our co-op, commitment to our goals, past experience 
in project and construction management, and her super 
powers on contracts, huge volumes of details on equipment 
and construction specs, as well as her ever sharp pencil on 
tracking budgets to this project. We started with a lot of 
hopes and dreams for this building project and Monica did 
an amazing job shepherding those into reality. And she did 
it with a noteworthy sense of humor and appreciation for 
everyone we worked with.

Our General Contractor, Wright Builders – Jonathan Wright, 
Mark Ledwell, and Roger Cooney were with us from the 
beginning phases of property site search and feasibility to 
acquisition, design, and construction. Their contributions 
to the project and continuous attention to our needs were 
immeasurable. When we moved from conception/design 
to build, the WBI team of Ann Ledwell, Tom Lucia, Linda 
Gaudreau, and Claire Dusell were our literal building blocks. 
These fine folks kept us moving forward and found ways to 
keep people working through the pandemic while ensuring 
safety compliances on the job site. The visionary and 
innovative green building and energy efficiency experience 
and commitment that they brought to the project helped 
us put together a more sustainable building than we 
originally thought was possible. This will serve to benefit the 
environment and the co-op for years to come! 

Berkshire Design Group – Jeff Squire and Mark Darnold, for 
site civil engineering design, landscaping, permitting, traffic 
study, and infinite hours spent working on the MassWorks 
grant project. Berkshire Design put together a plan for 
excellent storm water management on a challenging site with 
a high water table and a beautiful landscaping plan featuring 
native trees and plants with a focus on pollinator and wildlife 
habitat. 

Thomas Douglas Architects – Tom Douglas, Dan Bonham, 
Scott Laidlaw, and Shoshana Weinburg for building design, 
interior design and decor, meticulous follow through, and the 
finer details. They put together a building design that echoed 
the overall feel and décor of our Northampton store with even 
higher levels of energy efficiency features. 

Tighe & Bond – Todd Holland and Jason Curtis, for their 
engineering expertise and oversight of all things from HVAC 
redesign to EV charger grant facilitation.

MJ Moran – Jim Moran, Alan Cote, Patrick O'Connor, Bob Roy, 
and Dean Basara for their adaptability and incredible support 
with the many HVAC and plumbing challenges. Special shout 
out to Dean-o for his tolerance of “wrong sink, but I can make 
this work” with grace, and humor.

Crocker Building Company – Jamie Crocker and his amazing 
team including Scottie, Charles, and the other superstars who 
rolled with the punches and did what needed to be done for 
anything and everything electrical.

Dietz Construction – A co-op neighbor right around the corner 
in Easthampton, and a family-owned and run business. They 
worked around the complex site and schedule, as well as 
the start up delays, along with winter conditions, to prepare 
for the building and solar foundations. Expert layout and 
meticulous workmanship shows in all the grading and paving 

Building the 
Easthampton Store
Our Deepest Gratitude
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details, as well as the function of the storm water system. 
One of their key operators early on wanted to CONFIRM that 
the vegan carrot cake would be available at this store!

Northern Closures – Donnie Larusso and his team for their 
amazing expertise on refrigeration, shelving, and all around 
grocery equipment and store set up skills. 

Suite3 – Our local IT partner, for their help with the design, 
configuration and deployment of all of our networking 
infrastructure, as well as myriad other small tweaks 
that needed to be made to our setup along the way to 
accommodate two stores and all kinds of new systems. Their 
help continues to be invaluable.

UNFI – For their support on opening orders, equipment 
procurement, and mechanical design on the refrigeration 
installation.

ARTfx – This Bloomfield, Connecticut based architectural 
signage company helped us save money on the interior 
structure by providing fire-rated signage that served as the 
soffit structure around the perimeter of the store. ARTfx 
owner Lawrin Rosen, Designers Paula Hansen and Paul 
D'Lubac, and Project Manager Todd Dery worked closely 
with Natasha Latour, our Director of Marketing, Tom Douglas 
and Shoshana Wienburg from our architectural firm, on 
the signage designs to incorporate the co-op's brand and 
messaging. Everyone on the team was invested in making our 
project shine. The whole team did an amazing job including 
the hand painted wood grains by Michael Ulrich, extra 
touches by the entire fabrication/production team, and the 
excellent installation team overseen by Carols Tapia and 
Brandon Savoie.

Blue Collar Artisans – Thanks to Michael Poole for the 
wonderfully hand crafted black bear bike racks he fabricated 
and installed along with the rainbow bike racks. Thanks for 
his patience on the discussion about how big bear ears are!

Co-op Power – Lynn Benander and Jon Ruth for partnering 
with us in the solar installation. They never stopped finding 
ways to not only make this project feasible but also make 
it happen. A net zero grocery store in the Northeast is a 
big breakthrough accomplishment, and they brought in the 
expertise and additional partners needed to make it happen.

Solar Design Associates – Steven Strong, Stephen Coffrin, and 
Isaac LaJoie for their innovative expertise, the insight and 
experience with building a solar system in MA.

PV Squared – A local worker-owned co-op solar installation 
company based in Greenfield, MA. Daniel Gomez and Evan 
Dick managed the solar installation project,and their crew 
persevered through some tough months with either really 
hot weather or really big rainstorms and sometimes both at 
the same time. Their expertise and dedication to making this 
showcase net zero project is much appreciated.

Oxbow Design Build – A worker-owned co-op in Easthampton. 
They worked closely with the designers and builders to 
create the sturdy steel and barn board cabinetry that add 
rustic elegance with sturdy long service life to the store. 
They used the same recycled barn board stock from Hatfield 
that was being used for paneling elsewhere in the store. As 
a committed local co-op organization, their collaborative 
approach to the work really added to the welcoming and 
talent showcase aspects of the job site. And, as inevitable 
adjustments were needed, they could get to their shop and 
back in minutes. They showed great workmanship, and were 
great folks to work with! 

City of Easthampton – Mayor Nicole LaChapelle, City Planner 
Jeff Bagg, the Building Commissioner’s Office, Planning Board, 
Conservation Committee, Lindsi Mailler and the Licensing 
Board, Brianna Eichstaedt at the Board of Health, Captain 
Dan Constantine and Chief Christopher Norris at the Fire 
Department, Chief Robert Alberti of the Police Department, 
along with along with the innumerous city staff and officials 
we’ve spoken with in the town over the past three years. Their 
welcoming attitude, support with the MassWorks Grant, and 
walking us through many city processes is worth two rounds 
of applause and demonstrates that Easthampton walks their 
talk in supporting local business development. 

The folks at the National Co-op Grocers Development Co-op 
were a steady guiding hand and a seemingly never-ending 
source of support. John Guerra, Rob Martin, and Larry Polyner 
on project planning, budget projections, store equipment 
purchasing, store design (and re-design, and re-re-design…), 
as well as planning for opening and setting up shelving and 
stocking. They brought in a great team of store department 
specialists and merchandisers to assist with department-
specific set-up details and helping support the managers 
and store staff before the store opening as well as through 
the first week; Rob Martin, Tom Schneider, Joshua Crone, 
Dan Hein, Greg Johnson, Linda McCann, Mark Papendeick, 
Meredith Provance, and Ken Wallace well as Dave Blackburn, 
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Dave Olsen and Terry Bowling all came over to help with 
the opening and worked together to coordinate getting our 
co-op the opening support we needed. Also thanks to Kevin 
O’Donnell who came down from Hunger Mountain Co-op 
to help out for a few days. This team provides support to 
co-ops with remodels, relocations, and new stores all over 
the country all year long while we only undertake such things 
once every few years. This was the biggest project we have 
done, and it is one of the largest co-op openings in recent 
years. Having a development co-op owned by and for food 
co-ops is a great resource for this level of technical support.

Attorney David Bloomberg – Orchestrated, oversaw, and 
finalized our closing documents; no easy task, considering 
each financial interest (ESB, MHIC, NCIF, VRV, COCRF) also had 
its own attorney and list of requirements. 

Attorney Alan Seewald – Key in securing the property 
purchase agreement and site plan approval. 

Peter Davies of Borawski Real Estate for support and 
guidance. 

Attorney Richard Helde – Oversaw the technical details 
of developing the NMTC economic development funding 
projections and agreements. 

bankESB – We couldn’t do this project without financial 
support. Our local bank right across the street from the site, 
bankESB, provided the senior debt financing! Special thanks 
to Maureen Mahar, Nathaniel Munson, and Ryan Leap for 
taking on our project and supporting the added complexity of 
the economic development funding that made it possible. 

Massachusetts Housing and Development Corporation 
Thanks to our lead nonprofit community development partner 
for our economic development funding through the New 
Markets Tax Credits program and Massachusetts Housing 
and Development Corporation (MHIC). This project required 
multiple participating nonprofit community development 
organizations including Vermont Rural Ventures (VRV), 
National Community Investment Fund (NCIF), and Capital One 
Community Reinvestment Fund (COCRI). This program will 
result in nearly $5 million in funding that we will not need to 
repay at the end of the of the seven-year loan term. 

We are also grateful to the financing support from our 
cooperative funding partners, including the Cooperative 
Fund of New England (CFNE) and the Twin Pines Cooperative 
Foundation (TPCF). 

Special thanks to the 350 co-op owners who made over 
$5 million in individual loans that leveraged all the other 
funding to make this project possible. 

The Fedor Family – Mr. Eddie Fedor, the property owner, 
along with his children Marty, Marianne and David. This 
project wouldn’t have been possible without their support 
and patience through the long process required for a local 
community food co-op to raise the funds needed for the 
purchase and development of the property. Getting support 
for purchasing commercial property when you are not a large 
corporation with deep pockets is one of the biggest barriers 
for food co-op expansion and development.

This project could not have 
been completed without 
the folks mentioned above. 
It also could not have 
happened without these 
people/companies:

Accufab Iron Works
Allied Mechanical Services 
Allstate Fire Equipment
Amherst Trucking
Architectural Timber & Millwork
Arrow Concrete Products, Inc.
Baird Ceiling Systems
Big T Concrete
Building Specialties/Architectural Hardware, Inc
Cebula Electronics Corp.
Coffey & Heady Painting
Collins & Co.
Concord Awning & Canvas
Construction Service 
Cowls Building Supply
Devine Overhead Doors Corporation
Double D’s Cleaning Service
Florence Roofing
George Propane, Inc.
GNCB Consulting Engineers
Godfrey Sign, LLC
Hampshire Fire
Hastie Fence Co.
Hathaway Construction Corp.
Hilltown Land Trust
Industrial Mechanical Insulation Corp. 
Labco Air and Water Balancing LLC
Lashway Lumber
Lazy D Landscapes & Construction
Madison Builders
Mercier Carpet
NorthEast Sheet Metal Co., Inc.
Ondrick Materials & Recycling, LLC
Professional Drywall Construction, Inc.
rk Miles
Sea & Shore Contracting, Inc.
Spring Valley Landscaping, Inc.
TC Controls
TLC Construction, Inc.
UNFI
Valley Communication Systems, Inc.
Valley Recycling
Vermont Eco-Floors 
Witch Enterprises, Inc.
Yankee Glass
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We're We're wild wild 
aboutabout our local  our local 
farmers farmers &&  
vendors!vendors!

Astarte Farm • Hadley, MA

Park Hill Orchard • Easthampton, MASmall Oven Bakery • Easthampton, MA



26 river valley co•op  FY21 ANNUAL REPORT

Food for All (FFA) is a needs-based program to 
help better serve low income individuals and families 
in our community. Sales increased by 30.81% last year, 
reaching $1,384,420 in sales.

The Low Income Owner Assistance Program 
gives everyone, regardless of income, an opportunity 
to become a co-op owner of River Valley Co-op and 
enjoy all the benefits of being an owner of the co-op. 
This program is for individuals who are committed to 
supporting our co-op by becoming owners, but who 
would not otherwise be able to afford to join. We 
increased low income owners using this program by 
3.5% for a total for 375 last year.

$138,442
Needs-Based Grocery Discounts Increased 30.81%

$845,695
SNAP Sales increased by 97.06%

782
Total Food for All Participants

375
Total Low Income Owners

Supporting 
Economic 
Accessibility 
in Co-op 
Shopping & 
Ownership
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River Valley Co-op is a member of several different 
co-ops including National Co-op Grocers (NCG), Associated 
Grocers of New England (AGNE), Frontier Co-op, Co-op Power, 
and FEDCO.

We buy and sell co-op produced foods and products 
including: Equal Exchange, Frontier Co-op, Our Family Farms, 
Alaffia, Organic Valley, Cabot Creamery, Real Pickles, Artisan 
Beverage Co-op, Wellspring Cooperative Greenhouse, and La 
Riojana.

We work with all kinds of co-ops and co-op associations, 
including UMass Five College Credit Union, Columinate 
Consulting Co-op, The Neighboring Food Co-op Association 
(NFCA), Valley Alliance of Worker Co-ops (VAWC), PV Squared 
(Pioneer Valley Photovoltaics), Collective Copies, Twin Pines 
Cooperative Foundation, Cooperative Fund of New England 
(CFNE), National Cooperative Bank (NCB), Local Enterprise 
Assistance Fund (LEAF), and the National Cooperative 
Business Association (NCBA).

Equal Exchange is a worker-owned cooperative headquartered in West 
Bridgewater, MA. They distribute organic, gourmet coffee, tea, sugar, 
bananas, avocados, cocoa, and chocolate bars produced by farmer 
cooperatives in Latin America, Africa, and Asia. Their mission is to 
build long-term trade partnerships that are economically just and 
environmentally sound, to foster mutually beneficial relationships between 
farmers and consumers and to demonstrate, through their success, the 
contribution of worker co-operatives and Fair Trade to a more equitable, 
democratic and sustainable world. Image above courtesy of Equal Exchange

La Riojana Cooperative produces Argentinian fair 
trade wines and olive oil. Their US distribution is 
exclusively with food co-ops. 2021 was our sixth 
year having Riojana at our co-op and sales were 
$62,729, for a total of 6,523 bottles sold last year 
and is one of our top selling wines. La Riojana’s 
100% commitment to implementing and following 
the principles of Fair Trade are perfectly illustrated 
by the investment they have made with their 
Fair Trade premium towards the health of their 
community: building a community center, a local 
clinic and primary school in Tilimuqui.

La Riojana Co-op  
Wines & Olive Oil  

Sold in FY21

6,523 
BOTTLES

$7,787,365
NCG Purchases

$1,953,230
Other Co-op Purchases

$9,740,595
FY20 Purchases from Co-op Vendors

Cooperation Among Cooperation Among 
CooperativesCooperatives

+ =
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One of Our Key Local 
Food Partners

“River Valley Co-op is an 
incredible partner and expands 
the reach of CISA’s work by 
serving an important part of 
our local food economy. This 
vital role is expanding with the 
opening of their second store in 
Easthampton and has been since 
before the Northampton store 
even broke ground.” 
– Philip Korman, Executive Director, CISA

Community Involved in Sustaining Agriculture 
(CISA) strengthens farms and engages the 
community to build the local food economy. 

HELPING FARMERS, PROMOTING LOCAL!
CISA works with over 260 farms in the Connecticut River 

Valley as well as 160 local food connected businesses to provide 
personalized, targeted support from marketing to financial planning. 
For almost 30 years, CISA has been the “go to” for local farms when 
they need support. You’ve seen CISA’s bright yellow Local Hero 
logo in the co-op and throughout the Valley – look for it to identify 
locally grown products throughout the store (and there are lots).

“River Valley Co-op is an incredible partner and expands the 
reach of CISA’s work by serving an important part of our local food 
economy,” said CISA’s Executive Director, Philip Korman. “This 
vital role is expanding with the opening of their second store in 
Easthampton and has been since before the Northampton store 
even broke ground.” 

CISA advocates for policies that support local farms, farm 
workers, and local food access programs like HIP. River Valley 
Co-op’s long-standing support of CISA helps make this work 
possible. 

Photos courtesy of CISA
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Giving Back
We made significant contributions to local 
nonprofits and community organizations 
to support their work, special events, and 
fundraising efforts totaling $157,593. 

RIVER VALLEY CO-OP  
COMMUNITY FUND GRANTS
Hope of Wheels ......................................................$1,000
LightHouse Holyoke ..............................................$1,000
Nolumbeka Project ................................................$1,000 
The Pascommuck Conservaton Trust ..............$1,000
Poeple’s Medicine Project ...................................$1,000
Soj ourner Truth School for Social  

Change Leadership ..........................................$1,000

BULK GIFT CARDS
Through our “Scrip” program, local schools, churches, 
and nonprofits purchase co-op gift cards in bulk at 
5% or 10% discount and sell them at full price to raise 
funds for their organizations. We sold $42,800 in bulk 
gift cards and contributed $3,740 in discounts. Any 
nonprofit can apply for our scrip program to qualify  
for a bulk co-op gift card discount to use for fundraising 
for their organizations.

COMMUNITY SUPPORT
Sponsorships, underwriting, and in-kind donations: 
$147,853

Major Cash Sponsorships Over $1,000 (totaling 
$140,192)

Center for New Americans ..................................$1,000
Co mmunity Involved in  

Sustaining Agriculture .....................................$21,667
Double Edge Theater ............................................$2,500
Easthampton City Arts .........................................$5,000
Easthampton Community Center .....................$1,000
Food Co-op Initiative ............................................$24,638
Foo d Bank of Western MA/ 

Monte’s March ..................................................$1,000
Foo d Bank of Western MA/ 

Will Bike 4 Food ...............................................$2,000
Gardening the Community ..................................$2,000
Gre ater Northampton Chamber 

of Commerce .....................................................$2,500
Grow Food Northampton ....................................$5,000
International Language Institute of Mass ....$2,000
Hitchcock Center for the Environment ...........$3,000
Mass Audubon at Arcadia....................................$1,000
Nashawannuck Pond ............................................$2,000
Nolumbeka Project ................................................$3,000
Pur Planet Co-op Forest ......................................$2,000
Pioneer Valley Workers Center ..........................$8,035
River Valley Community Fund ............................$24,638
Treehouse Foundation .........................................$3,000
Valley Free Radio ....................................................$1,555
WAMC Northeast Public Radio ..........................$8,604
WFCR New England Public Radio ......................$10,555
Young at Heart ........................................................$2,500

Other Sponsorships, Underwriting,  
and In-Kind Donations

Baystate Health Foundation
Breathing Spaces
Bridge Street School PTO
Cancer Connection
Climber’s Coalition
Community Involved in Sustaining Agriculture (CISA)
Congregation B’nai Israel
Dakin Pioneer Valley Humane Society
Easthampton City Arts  
Easthampton High School
Easthampton Farmers Market
Florence Night Out
Food Bank of Western MA
Forbes Library
Friends of Forbes, INC
Friends of Hilltown Cooperative Charter
Girls on the Run
Hadley Council of Aging
Happy Valley
Hartsbrook School
Hatfield Public Schools
Historic Northampton
Jackson Street School 
Hilltown Cooperative Charter School
Kestrel Land Trust
Manna Soup Kitchen
Newspapers in Education 
North Star Center for Teens
Nolumbeka Project
Northampton Arts Council
Paradise City Arts Festival
Pioneer Valley Ballet
Pioneer Valley Habitat for Humanity
Pioneer Valley Jazz Shares
Pionner Valley Symphony
PRIA Music 
Riverside Industries
Royal Frog Ballet
Safe Passage
Shelter Sunday
Sojourner Truth Committee
Sojourner Truth School for Social Change
Soul Fire Farm
UFCW
United Arc
Unitarian Society
Valley Alliance of Worker Co-operatives
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Change for Change is a round-up 
at the register program where 
each time you shop you will have 
the option to round your bill to 
the nearest dollar or nearest $5 
or $10 or more if you like. Each 
month, the change is donated to 
one nonprofit organization in our 
community.

Co-op owners nominate 
and vote on which local 
nonprofit will receive 
the donation, but all 
shoppers can donate to 
the program!

Change Changefor
round-up at the register

Donated to local nonprofits in FY21 by co-op shoppers

$31$31,,028028

July: Grow Food Northampton ..............................................................  $1,571

August: Pioneer Valley Workers Center .............................................  $1,967

September: Food Bank of Western MA ..............................................  $3,634

October: Twin Pines Cooperative Foundation ..................................  $2,552

November: River Valley Co-op Low Income Ownership Fund ......  $2,348

December: Friends of Hampshire Cty Homeless Individuals .......  $3,980

January: Community Involved in Sustaining Agriculture ...............  $2,572

February: Sojourner Truth School for Social Change .....................  $1,968

March: Treehouse Foundation ..............................................................  $2,337

April: Co-op Forest Tree Donation ......................................................  $2,372

May: Springfield Honors Academy ......................................................  $2,205

June: Out Now ...........................................................................................  $3,516

Our partnership with National Co+op Grocers' (NCG) innovative 
Co+op Forest carbon-offset initiative enabled us to participate in 
Co-op Forest. NCGs contributions have grown to include more than  
2 million native trees in the Amazon rainforest. NCG also contributed 
1,158 tree seedlings to Finca a la Media, a community-led project 
that aims to restore degraded farmland so cocoa farmers needn't 
resort to cutting down old growth rainforest. In 2019 River Valley 
Co-op made a $4,000 contribution to plant 700 trees offsetting 50% 
of our carbon footprint for 2019. After a pause because of COVID in 
2020, we were able to contribute $4,294.91 in 2021!

PUR Project:  PUR Project:  
Co-op Forest Co-op Forest 
Carbon Offset Carbon Offset 
ProgramProgram



31

We launched our virtual community 
education program in April 2021. The pandemic 
interrupted the popular workshops we used to 
host in our Northampton store. We were eager 
to reinstate this programming so we moved it 
online. Our first free virtual class on April 22nd, 
2021 featured Andrea Stanley, owner of Ground 
Up Grain and also a past River Valley Co-op Board 
President and member. 

We presented a virtual tour of the Ground Up 
Grain facility located in Holyoke which the team 
filmed prior to the webinar. We were excited to 
host over 60 participants at this event, which is 
triple the number we used to accommodate at 
our in-person classes, and we were also thrilled 
to have attendees from out-of-state and also 
abroad join us as well! 

During the course of the next seven weeks, 
we partnered with sixteen local business owners 
and professionals and presented seventeen free 
webinars. Topics were wide-ranging and included 
health and wellness, permaculture, pet behavior, 
as well as yoga and Feldenkrais movement 
classes. 

It was very rewarding to partner with local 
professionals who were so excited about the 
opportunity to connect with the local community, 
especially during a global pandemic! We found 
that the webinars were an amazingly effective 
tool in reaching hundreds of people in the 
Connecticut River Valley and well beyond.

 Over 660 participants from twenty 
states and seven countries attended 
the seventeen webinars we ran from 
late April through June 15th. 

One exciting component of producing the 
workshops was filming on location. This gave us 
the chance to truly bring our participants behind-
the-scenes which was a rare opportunity during 
the pandemic. Andrea Stanley very generously 
hosted us and made it possible for us to film on 
location at her newly relocated mill just a week 
after she moved her operation from Hadley to 
Holyoke, and Susan Pincus, owner of Sawmill 
Herb Farm, welcomed us to her farm in Florence. 
The videos were incorporated into the live events 
where participants were able to ask questions 
and interact with our presenters.

The webinars were a testament to the talents 
and skills of our Marketing team: from building 
partnership with presenters, and coordinating 
and hosting events to creating flyers, filming 
and editing videos, and promotion - everyone’s 
contributions were integral and essential to 
the success of this online programming. The 
pandemic eliminated our in-person workshops, 
but we found a way to not only reach our 
community, but to make a difference in the 
lives of so many people. Our free virtual classes 
have given River Valley Co-op an extraordinary 
opportunity to make a positive impact.

Community Workshops 
& Presentations
by Reka Peterson • Marketing Assistant Manager, Outreach

We heard overwhelmingly positive feedback from participants who 
were very grateful for the this new service the co-op was offering to 
the community:

“Thank you so much for this presentation. It was a great way to get to 
know where our food is coming from and the ingenuity of local folks 
to make things happen. What a great Earth Day topic! I look forward to 
seeing what else you have coming up and I can't wait to go bake with 
some Ground Up flour.” 

“I am so impressed that this was made available through the Co-op. 
How great is that? I have never heard of Yoga Nidra before and I really 
enjoyed the pace and information and session completely.”

“Thanks to RVC for broadening its role in serving the community. This 
seminar on EFT was excellent. Looking forward to other opportunities 
that are as well organized and informative.” 
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Elizabeth Appelquist
I am co-owner of Cider House Media 

in Easthampton, created in 2013. Cider 
House is a digital agency providing 
marketing for small and regional 
businesses. As a River Valley owner, I 

feel a sense of pride in being part of such a vibrant, growing 
business and would love to be a part of its governance, helping 
to continue its success forward as a leader in our communities.

I grew up in Easthampton, moving back to the area in the 
spring of 2013. Since then I have enjoyed being a part of my 
community, supporting local businesses through work with 
Cider House as well as presently serving as President of the 
Emily Williston Library Board and on the Easthampton Cultural 
Arts District Subcommittee. I previously was also a member of 
the Pioneer Valley Ballet Board for 3 years.

It would be fulfilling to be a part of River Valley, a group 
that so thoughtfully embraces its owners, customers, and 
community with deep respect as it engages environmental, 
social justice, and equality issues while working hard to 
maintain diversity and inclusion wherever it can. This kind of 
leadership in the community is inspiring and would be exciting 
to be a part of.

Whenever I'm in either River Valley store, I not only 
feel the care and respect shared amongst and toward the 
employees, but also toward all the food and other products 
in the store. In a world that is becoming more digital by 
the second, it’s refreshing and essential to experience this 
personal caring harnessed within the River Valley organization.

I enjoy looking at things outside the box. Considering 
the climate of our changing world (local, regionally and 
globally), I feel that’s becoming a necessity. I’m also a big 
proponent of teamwork and how essential this concept is in 
any organization, especially when all are working towards a 
common goal. In my business and other group endeavors, I 
have always relied on the strength of my team. It’s something 
that needs to be nurtured and brings great results. It’s 
important too to recognize within a group that there will be 
differing opinions. I have an ability to see all sides of an issue 
which I think helps bring about fair and equitable solutions.

I’m excited to have this opportunity to support the co-op’s 
mission through service on the Board.

YOUR VOTE COUNTS AT THE CO-OP!

The annual Board of Directors Election is underway and 
ends December 16, 2021 (the night of the co-op’s Annual 
Meeting).

One of the key ways a co-op owner can participate and 
make your voice count is by voting in the election. We 
have three candidates for the Board of Directors to vote 
on. These candidates have demonstrated a significant 
commitment to the co-op, and each candidate brings a 
depth of different experiences, skills, and perspectives. 
We are pleased to announce all three of the 2021 
applicants for Board positions were nominated by the 
Board and are now seeking your support by a vote in this 
election. 

You may vote for up to three candidates. This year the 
candidates are all new and all running uncontested. 
Your participation and vote of support is important. All 
candidates receiving votes will be elected to the Board of 
Directors in this election.

We will be using Simply Voting, a third-party election 
service, again this year. This will be our fifth year with 
Simply Voting, which has increased voter participation 
with online voting. Simply Voting mails each co-op 
owner a ballot and instructions for either online or 
mail-in voting, as well as tallying both electronic and 
paper votes. Each owner will have a secure password for 
accessing the online ballot.

If you prefer to deliver your paper ballot to the store's 
Customer Service desk or bring it to the Annual Meeting, 
that is still an option. Our co-op benefits from good 
leadership—thank you for voting in this year’s election!

Look for your ballot in the mail!

If you need assistance, email: 
nlatour@rivervalley.coop

Board of Board of 
Directors Election Directors Election 
&& Candidate  Candidate 
StatementsStatements

VOTE!VOTE!
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Sarah Axe
I am a fervent advocate for food that 

nourishes people’s health, businesses 
that fairly compensate those who grow 
and produce our food, and communities 
that celebrate and preserve the land 

that our food is grown from. 
Before receiving my Master’s degree in Public Policy, I 

taught Algebra for nine years in the Rio Grande Valley, Austin, 
Texas, and Buenos Aires, Argentina. After witnessing the 
effects that nutrition, policy, and funding have on children in 
both public and private schools, I moved away from teaching 
to engage more strategically with private and public sector 
leaders around food policy, public health, and regional food 
systems.

 Since then, I have coordinated healthy food access 
programs at the municipal level, operationalized the Good 
Food Purchasing Program - a values-based food procurement 
framework - at two large school districts (Austin ISD and 
Boston Public Schools), and co-founded Kitchen Sync 
Strategies. I am now managing a regional project in New 
England focused on building a resilient and robust food 
economy that centers on equity, the environment, and public 
health.

I have experience cultivating meaningful relationships 
with diverse stakeholders, engaging in strategic decision-
making around enhancing the regional food system, and 
working collaboratively to balance different points of view 
working towards a shared vision. For more than three years I 
have served on the Board of Directors for Farmshare Austin, 
an organization dedicated to growing a healthy local food 
community by increasing food access, teaching new farmers, 
and preserving farmland. I would be honored to serve on the 
Board of River Valley Coop to contribute my skills working 
in community food systems and navigating the intersection 
between public and private food sectors to support the 
coop’s long term growth, sustainability, and commitment to 
supporting people, the planet, and profit. 

I believe that when leaders from diverse sectors become 
purposeful participants in the food system, we can improve 
the ways we feed people, take care of the planet, and support 
the people, the land, and businesses that grow, produce, and 
sell our food.

Angela D’Souza
As an environmental science 

researcher and educator, my goal 
is to collapse the longstanding but 
imposed boundaries between school 
systems and communities. When we 

recognize and value people who come through academic 
institutions as knowledge holders, previously marginalized 
ways of knowing and being in the world can be recentered 
and resurrected. Living in a society that is increasingly 
segmented, interpersonal connections among humans 
and the inhabitants of our ecosystems are unknown to the 
consumer. It is crucial that we foster explicit and appreciative 
connections with those (humans, land/waterways, non-human 
organisms) upon whom we depend. 

We know food is something we all require to survive, 
but access to healthy, nutrient-rich, affordable, and 
sustainably-packaged food is uneven, even in the “Happy 
Valley.” LaDonna Sanders Redmond’s presentation through 
the Sojourner Truth School for Social Justice illustrated the 
dependence we have on food systems at the expense of 
others’ lives. Redmond explicitly drew the lines between “Big 
Pharma,” Big Agriculture and their reliance on chain grocery 
conglomerates, and the disconnection and divestment of 
community-based agricultural practices. Ever more critical 
these past 18 months, the separation of food systems and 
humans was something I witnessed daily--on monumental 
scale--as the justification for single-used plastic and non-
native ingredients was (is) cloaked in rhetoric of sanitation, 
convenience, and efficiency. 

People should know where their food comes from, 
including the packaged superfoods and synthesized 
alternative meat products. My work has prepared me to 
support engaging schools and stimulate the creation and 
adoption of programming and multidisciplinary curricula 
around farms to household tables, composting, and home and 
school gardens. School partnerships with our Co-op could be 
transformative. 

While I am humble and non-confrontational, I am 
methodical in my learning how a system functions. I hold 
myself and others accountable for our biases and actions 
that, without historical contextualization and foresight, do 
more harm than heal. As a River Valley Co-op Board member, 
I will not just listen to but hear my fellow co-owners. By 
drawing from each other’s perspectives, we can work towards 
a more just food economy, and society, based on common 
ground for our and future generations.

Thank you to Ed Cohen who made 44 white cedar picnic tables for us, and Jim Nutter who stained all of them with a non-toxic stain.
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BY-LAW AMENDMENTS 
RECOMMENDED for APPROVAL

Every 5-10 years it is a best practice for the Board of 
Directors to do a review of the bylaws to make any needed 
changes. It has been eight years since the last review, and 
with some other big projects like financing the second store 
behind us, we started this project in 2021. 

 The Board is now recommending your approval of five 
proposed amendments. A 2/3 vote in favor is required to 
amend each section outlined below. 

 Amendment #1 is intended to instill more clarity that 
co-op membership is co-op ownership. This proposed 
amendment is to change the bylaw language from “member-
owner” to “co-op owner” throughout the document. This 
change doesn’t impact member rights, responsibilities 
or benefits, but we think it will serve to help elevate the 
understanding of cooperative ownership.

 There are three somewhat related changes in 
Amendments #2-4 about updating official notices to include 
email notices. The changes include adding the responsibility 
of co-op owners to inform the Co-op of any change in email 
address, allowing email notices, and specifically allowing 
email for annual meeting notices and ballots. We also 
updated the language in these sections to clarify and reflect 
current practices for accessibility to voting via electronic 
ballot.

Amendment #5 adds a provision for up to two Board 
Members to be co-op owners that are also current employees. 
This provides for the inclusion of employee Directors while 
also ensuring a sufficient level of non-employee community 
members participate in the governance of the cooperative. 
It also clarifies that regardless of their personal interests, 
all Board Members share responsibility for representing the 
overall interests of the cooperative.

 Your Board offers the following amendments to the 
bylaws and recommends that the co-op ownership vote yes to 
adopt these amendments as proposed. We’ve outlined each 
of the amendments, described the changes, and the reason 
for the changes in this article and appreciate your attention 
to and consideration of these proposed amendments. 
You may vote to approve or reject each of the proposed 
amendments. 

Questions can be directed to Board President, Dorian 
Gregory: dgregory@rivervalley.coop.

Visit www.rivervalley.coop for Bylaws Amendment document 
with deletions in red strike through and new additions in blue 
underline.

AMENDMENT #1: 

Change Member-Owner to Co-op Owner

Articles: 1.2, 2, 2.1, 2.3, 2.4, 2.5, 2.6, 3.2, 3.3, 3. 4.1, 4.2, 4.3, 5.2, 
8, 8.1, 8.2, 8.3, 8.4, 8.5, 9.1, 9.2, 9.3, 11.1, 11.3 , 12.2, and change 
table heading on the second column of the chart. 

Change the bylaws language to reflect a change in language 
from “member-owner” to “co-op owner”. The changes include 
“member” “membership” “representative of membership” 

and/or “co-op membership” as relevant to their use in each 
section.

Reason: In 2001 Directors changed the language from 
“member” to “member-owner” to better convey that 
membership in the co-op is ownership of the co-op. Member-
owner is now commonly used by food co-ops. However, 
discussions over recent years have evolved this thinking and 
many co-ops are exploring stronger ownership language to 
differentiate between various member organizations in a 
way that more directly and eloquently conveys that investing 
in a co-op equity share makes you a co-op owner. With our 
official bylaw language using member-owner language we are 
sometimes asked who the other co-op owners are…there are 
no other owners. 

We started using the “co-op ownership” language internally 
about six years ago as a strategic communication to instill 
a stronger sense of ownership and empowerment. The 
Board has decided to officially update the language once 
again in our bylaws to instill clarity and a stronger sense 
of cooperative ownership by changing the language from 
“member-owner” to “co-op owner” and/or “membership” to 
“ownership” and/or “co-op membership” to “co-op ownership” 
as appropriate to help clarify that we cooperatively own it 
together. 

This change has no direct impact on any membership rights 
or responsibilities, but we hope that it helps our community 
to develop a higher level of understanding of cooperative 
ownership. 

Board Recommendation: We recommend a “Yes” vote on the 
proposed bylaws amendment #1 to change language from 
member-owners to co-op owners throughout the document. 

AMENDMENT #2 

Article 2 Membership Section 2.4 Membership 
Responsibilities Paragraph B and Article 10 Notice Section 
10.1

The amended language proposed in Article 2 section 2.4 
paragraph b: 

• The most substantive change in this section is adding the 
responsibility for Members to keep the Co-op updated on 
their current email address and to allow the Co-op to use 
email addresses as the address of record for official notices 
to Members. 

• Updates the description of the practices for notices from 
Co-op Members to the Co-op for address changes to be 
made by the Representative of Membership to the Co-op, 
not the Clerk. It also adds clarity that address changes are 
to be made in writing through a variety of methods. 

The amended language proposed in Article 10 section 10.1 
adds the date an email notice is sent as the date that notice is 
delivered.
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The reason:

A) The key change in 2.4 is a step toward modernizing the 
co-op’s official notice methods to include email notice. The 
current bylaws require the co-op to mail official membership 
notices. In past years, mail was the most reliable and noticed 
method of announcement for important information. In more 
recent years, email is widely relied upon for communications 
of all kinds. Notice by mail is a costly process for what is 
now nearly 14,000 Co-op Owners. This change could save 
time, paper, and financial resources and we think it is a wise 
change to allow for email notices in the bylaws for the future. 
To make this change feasible, we need to add email address 
updates to membership responsibilities, which is included in 
this amendment. Currently only mailing address updates are 
required in member responsibilities. 

B) The amendment to 2.4 also includes language clarifying 
that notice of any Membership change of name, postal 
address and email address is to be submitted to the Co-op in 
writing by the Representative of Membership. This language 
is simply updated to better describe the current practices 
with the addition of including email address updates in 
membership responsibilities. 

The amendment to Article 10 Notice adds language to address 
that email notices are considered delivered upon the date 
they are sent. This is needed along with the language in 
Article 2.4 related to allowing email notices for this change to 
be implemented. 

Board Recommendation: We recommend a “Yes” vote on 
amendment #2 as proposed below:

Bylaws Amendment #2 with text deletions in red 
strikethrough and additions in blue underline

Article 2 Membership

2.4 Membership Responsibilities

b) Member-owners expected to apprise are The 
Representative of Membership is responsible for notifying 
the Co-op Clerk of any changes of name or address.postal 
address and email address. Any changes shall be in writing, 
and delivered in person, by mail, email or other means of 
notice as authorized by the Board from time to time. The 
name and postal or electronic address provided by a member 
the Representative of Membership in writing shall be the 
address to which all notices for that member will be sent.

10.1 Notice: 

Any notice required under these bylaws shall be deemed 
delivered when deposited in the United States mail with 
names and physical addresses, or sent via e-mail to the 
e-mail address as they appear in the records of the Co-op.

AMENDMENT #3

Article 3 Membership Meetings 3.1 Annual Meeting 

This amendment about notice for annual meetings expands 
the method of notice from mailing to include notice “by mail, 
email or other electronic means as determined by the Board”. 

It also requires that the ballot be included in the meeting 
notice. Language was also added to clarify that only issues in 
the official ballot will have binding votes in the membership 
meeting. 

The reason: 

3.1 is amended to include email as a method of official 
notice for the Annual Meeting and mirrors the amendment 
about official co-op notices in Article 2.4 paragraph b on 
Membership Responsibilities that expands notices to allow 
for email notices. 

3.1 also adds a requirement to include the ballot in the notice 
of the meeting which aligns with our current practice. This 
amendment helps ensure both full information on decisions 
to be made and easier voting access for all Co-op Owners. 
This amendment provides for institutionalizing absentee 
voting with advance ballot information. Currently, the vast 
majority of ballots are cast electronically and we expect that 
to continue. 

Board Recommendation: We recommend a “Yes” vote on the 
amendment #3 as proposed below:

Bylaw Amendment #3 with text deletions in red strikethrough 
and additions in blue underline

Article 3 Membership Meetings 

3.1 Annual Meeting : An annual membership meeting shall be 
held within four months of the close of the fiscal year or at 
a time determined by the Board of Directors. The location 
will be determined by the Board of Directors and announced 
no less than 30 days in advance of the meeting via a an 
official membership-wide mailing notice, (by mail, email or 
other electronic means as determined by the Board),and 
prominent notices in the store stores. The announcement 
shall include the proposed agenda of the meeting, the ballot 
and a description of issues which will be voted upon by the 
Membership. Late agenda items may be placed upon the 
agenda by written notice to the Board Clerk at least 48 hours 
before the meeting. Decisions on Any issues not included 
in the official notice and ballot of a meeting shall be of an 
advisory nature only. The purpose of the annual meeting shall 
be to hear reports on operations and finances, to review any 
important policy issues or other matters that vitally affect the 
Co-op, to elect Directors, and to conduct such other business 
as may properly come before the meeting.

AMENDMENT #4

Article 3 Membership Meetings 3.4 Decisions

3.4 Decisions: The bylaws were amended to explicitly add 
details about absentee ballot methods to include mail, in 
store ballot boxes, and electronic ballots as well as other 
methods determined by the Board. It added language about 
timelines and methods for casting ballots to be determined 
by the Board. The amendment also includes deleting the 
option for voting by proxy. 

Reason: The amendment provides for absentee voting options 
by a variety of means to formally institutionalize our practices 
to ensure easy access for voting on co-op matters through 
a diversity of methods. It allows for future additions for 
absentee voting methods as well. This is in alignment with 
our values of inclusion and accessibility of voting access. 
Voting by proxy is a method that has never been used in our 
elections and was deleted in this amendment. 

Board Recommendation: We recommend a “Yes” vote on 
amendment #4 as proposed below:
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Bylaw Amendment #4 with text deletions in red strikethrough 
and additions in blue underline

Article 3 Membership Meetings 

3.4 Decisions: Representatives of a Membership may 
vote as described in section 2.3, in person by proxy or by 
absentee ballot. In person ballots shall be cast at in person 
membership meetings. Absentee ballots include electronic 
ballot, or delivery of ballot by mail or to an in-store ballot 
box. All ballots shall be cast within designated election 
timeframes by these or other methods as determined by the 
Board. In voting for Directors, each member Representative of 
Membership may cast one vote for each position to be filled, 
but no more than one vote may be cast for any one candidate. 
Otherwise each member Representative of Membership 
shall have one vote in all matters submitted to a vote of 
member-owners. All issues shall be decided by a majority of 
member-owners voting except where otherwise required by 
law or by these bylaws.

AMENDMENT #5

Article 4 Board of Directors 4.2 Requirements and 
Qualifications 

Requirements and Qualifications: This article addresses 
requirements and qualifications for the Board of Directors. 
This section was amended to include that up to two current 
employees that are Co-op Owners are eligible to serve on the 
Board and added a clarification that all Directors represent 
the interests of the overall cooperative. 

Reason: This amendment is to allow up to two current 
employees that are Co-op Members to serve on the Board of 
Directors. We currently have two employee Directors and this 
bylaw amendment will serve to formally codify a standard 
to allow up to two employees to serve at the same time. 
This provides for the inclusion of employee Directors while 
also ensuring a sufficient level of non-employee community 
members participate in the governance of the cooperative. 
We also added a sentence to clarify that regardless of 
any Director’s personal interests, Board Members have 
a responsibility to represent the interests of the overall 
cooperative. 

Board Recommendation: We recommend a “Yes” vote on the 
amendment #5 as proposed below:

Bylaw Amendment #5 with text additions underlined in blue

Article 4 Board of Directors 

4.2 Requirements and Qualifications: The Board shall consist 
of up to nine directors of which up to two may be Co-op 
Owners that are also current employees of the Co-op. In 
addition, the General Manager shall serve as a non-voting 
member of the Board. To be qualified to serve as a director, 
a person shall be a member of the Co-op in good standing 
and be at least 18 years of age. All Directors are required to 
represent the interests of the overall cooperative.

Thank you for 
your thoughtful 
considerations 
of the Board’s 
recommended 
bylaw Changes.
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Financial Trends & FY21 Results
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Board of Directors
Northampton Community Cooperative Market, Inc.
Northampton, Massachusetts

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Northampton Community Cooperative 
Market, Inc., which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of June 30, 2021 and 2020, and the 
related consolidated statements of income, equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the 
related notes to the financial statements.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes 
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We 
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of Northampton Community Cooperative Market, Inc. as of June 30, 2021 and 2020,
and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

DRAFT
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Report on Consolidating Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements as a whole. 
The consolidating balance sheet and consolidating schedule of income are presented for purposes of 
additional analysis of the financial statements rather than to present the financial position and results of 
operations of the individual companies, and they are not a required part of the financial statements. Such
information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements. The consolidating 
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements 
and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial 
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the consolidating information is fairly stated in 
all material respects in relation to the financial statements as a whole.

Wegner CPAs, LLP
Madison, Wisconsin
October 27, 2021
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information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements 
and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial 
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the consolidating information is fairly stated in 
all material respects in relation to the financial statements as a whole.
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See accompanying notes.
3

2021 2020
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS

Cash 2,567,145$      3,648,072$      
Restricted cash - construction development 640,032 9,369,475
Restricted cash - interest reserves 475,369 660,888
Accounts receivable 88,932 71,721
Tax credits receivable 1,801,203 -
Prepaid expenses 77,163 28,135
Prepaid income taxes 160,373 69,137
Inventory 1,325,268 797,470
Loans receivable 30,000 30,000

Total current assets 7,165,485 14,674,898

Property and equipment - net 21,815,415 12,558,984

OTHER ASSETS
Equity and deposits in cooperatives 436,233 366,627
Intangible assets 17,009 17,009

Total other assets 453,242 383,636

Total assets 29,434,142$ 27,617,518$

LIABILITIES AND OWNERS' EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 1,977,232$      1,607,052$      
Accrued expenses 760,369 499,489
Patronage dividend payable 310,539 101,800
Deferred paycheck protection program income - 678,249
Income taxes payable 456 -
Current portion of long-term debt 229,927 295,414

Total current liabilities 3,278,523 3,182,004

Long-term debt net of current portion and debt issuance costs 19,796,392 20,045,118
Deferred taxes 380,000 403,000

Total liabilities 23,454,915 23,630,122

OWNERS' EQUITY
Common stock, $1 par value, 50,000 shares authorized,

12,358 and 11,290 shares issued and outstanding 12,358 11,290
Additional paid-in capital 1,562,822 1,407,138
Stock issuance costs (29,839) (29,839)
Minority interest in River Valley Market, LLC 695 26
Minority interest in RVC Properties, LLC 54,538 41,424
Retained patronage dividend 3,433,540 2,191,383
Retained earnings 945,113 365,974

Total owners' equity 5,979,227 3,987,396

Total liabilities and owners' equity 29,434,142$ 27,617,518$

NORTHAMPTON COMMUNITY COOPERATIVE MARKET, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

June 30, 2021 and 2020

DRAFT
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See accompanying notes.
4

Amount % Amount %
SALES REVENUE

Gross sales 30,454,985$ 100.00 30,638,667$ 100.00
Cost of goods sold (19,520,216) (64.10) (19,527,559) (63.74)

Gross profit 10,934,769 35.90 11,111,108 36.26

OPERATING EXPENSES
Personnel 7,932,787 26.05 7,555,511 24.66
Operating expenses 915,814 3.01 851,789 2.78
Promotions 817,640 2.68 623,540 2.04
Occupancy 722,887 2.37 778,307 2.54
Depreciation 356,229 1.17 448,808 1.46
Administrative expenses 354,245 1.16 327,511 1.07
Governance 43,308 0.14 57,474 0.19

Total operating expenses 11,142,910 36.58 10,642,940 34.74

Net income (loss) from operations (208,141) (0.68) 468,168 1.52

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)
Paycheck Protection Program Income 678,249 2.23 651,651 2.13
Interest income 156,918 0.52 91,595 0.30
Employee Retention Tax Credit 1,801,203 5.91 - -
Inventory donation income 74,536 0.24 - -
Other income 66,725 0.22 71,131 0.23
Interest expense (113,198) (0.37) (117,036) (0.38)
New store expenses (312,078) (1.02) (66,203) (0.22)
Loss on refinancing - - (82,733) (0.27)
Loss on disposal of assets (29,739) (0.10) - -
Other expense (5,184) (0.02) (13,824) (0.05)

Total other income (expense) 2,317,432 7.61 534,581 1.74

Net income before income taxes 2,109,291 6.93 1,002,749 3.26

Provision for income taxes 22,544 0.07 45,704 0.15

Net income 2,131,835$ 7.00 1,048,453$ 3.41

NORTHAMPTON COMMUNITY COOPERATIVE MARKET, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020

2021 2020

DRAFT
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See accompanying notes.
6

2021 2020
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net income 2,131,835$      1,048,453$      
Adjustments to reconcile net income
to net cash flows from operating activities

Depreciation 356,229 448,808
Deferred taxes (23,000) (47,000)
Gain on extinguishment of debt (678,249) -
Donation of inventory (74,536) -
Loss on refinancing - 82,733
Loss on disposal of assets 29,739 -
Net income of minority interests 13,783 -
(Increase) decrease in assets

Accounts receivable (17,211) (10,023)
Tax credits receivable (1,801,203) -
Prepaid expenses (49,028) 9,168
Prepaid income taxes (91,236) (68,334)
Inventory (453,262) (4,762)
Equity and deposits in cooperatives (69,606) (55,105)

Increase (decrease) in liabilities
Accounts payable 370,180 87,505
Accrued expenses 260,880 (21,555)
Deferred paycheck protection program income - 678,249
Income taxes payable 456 -

Net cash flows from operating activities (94,229) 2,148,137

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property and equipment (9,642,399) (152,842)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from long-term debt - 7,173,015
Payments of debt issuance costs (19,259) -
Amortization of debt issuance costs 411 4,268
Payments on long-term debt (295,365) (403,582)
Proceeds from common stock 161,122 117,546
Redemptions of common stock (4,370) (39)
Patronage dividends paid (101,800) (43,000)

Net cash flows from financing activities (259,261) 6,848,208

Change in cash (9,995,889) 8,843,503

Cash and restricted cash at beginning of year 13,678,435 4,834,932

Cash and restricted cash at end of year 3,682,546$      13,678,435$

NORTHAMPTON COMMUNITY COOPERATIVE MARKET, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020
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Thank you to everyone who helped  
build the Easthampton store!

 

See accompanying notes.
5

Minority
Minority Interest

Additional Stock Interest in in RVC Retained Accumulated
Common Paid-in Issuance River Valley Properties Patronage Earnings

Stock Capital Costs Market, LLC LLC Dividend (Deficit) Total

Balances June 30, 2019 10,680$      1,331,665$ (29,839)$ 26$             -$               1,784,183$ (173,479)$ 2,923,236$

Issued 649 75,473 - - 41,424 - - 117,546
Redemptions (39) - - - - - - (39)
Patronage dividend - - - - - 509,000 (509,000) -
Patronage dividend payable - - - - - (101,800) - (101,800)
Net income - - - - - - 1,048,453 1,048,453

Balances June 30, 2020 11,290 1,407,138 (29,839) 26 41,424 2,191,383 365,974 3,987,396

Issued 1,102 160,020 - - - - - 161,122
Redemptions (34) (4,336) - - - - - (4,370)
Patronage dividend - - - - - 1,552,696 (1,552,696) -
Patronage dividend payable - - - - - (310,539) - (310,539)
Net income - - - 669 13,114 - 2,131,835 2,145,618

Balances June 30, 2021 12,358$      1,562,822$ (29,839)$ 695$           54,538$     3,433,540$ 945,113$ 5,979,227$

NORTHAMPTON COMMUNITY COOPERATIVE MARKET, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY

Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020
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